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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER
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CHINA A [

Chonggqing Lee & Man €, b

(Yongchuan, 7JI1)

Guangdohg Lee & Man

(Hongmei, #18) @ —Z NS

Dongguan L¢e & Man @

(Huangyong, 7&358) A
VIETNAM itipd

Vietnam Lee & Man
(Hau Giang, f&RI)

PRODUCTS =

Kraft Linerboard A1 4K

Test Linerboard BE 415 A
Light Weight Kraftliner R

White Top Linerboard B [ 4 4K
High Strength Corrugating Medium 75 58 FL A5 i 4%
Core Board HE R
Pulp V%3
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Guangdong Lee & Man Paper

Annual capacity: 1.53 million tons of paper

R IE X iE 4K
FERL 1538 MEAR

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
Annual capacity: 650,000 tons of paper

R &4
FERE  65BMEMK

Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper
Annual capacity: 1.28 million tons of paper

STERIE S E 4K
FERL 128 B MEA

Chongging Lee & Man Paper

Annual capacity: 300,000 tons of paper and 165,000 tons of pulp

BEEENEK
FERL - 308 WAL R 1658 AT

Vietnam Lee & Man Paper

Under construction

R 3 SOE R
EZH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ARER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS £Eg

Executive director HITES

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman) BB E (EFE)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond B85S JP (Chief Executive Officer) BBk BBS A Pt (B EHITE)
Mr Lee Man Bun E

Mr Li King Wai Ross E P
Non-executive director FHITES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP E R LEIR GBS K BT
Independent non-executive director BYFEHITES

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR A&

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies %t 4

Mr Chau Shing Yim David BEK LA
COMPANY SECRETARY NAEME

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung oR B 98 %% A
REGISTERED OFFICE A EE

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands
PRINCIPAL OFFICE R ER

5th Floor, Liven House BE

61-63 King Yip Street NEE

Kwun Tong W EH61-6357
Kowloon F#ERESE

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (FE)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
In Hong Kong:

Hang Seng Bank
Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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ELIRTT
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B ED

B2 e AR GRTENTT
HESED

FERODBFELTRE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Buterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

BERODBFETDE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Profit Attributable to

Revenue shareholders Total Assets
P~
ON & SR PEAE 2 F EERE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
10,000 1,600 20,000
9,649 1441 18,677
8,996
17,015
8,000 - 1,200
15,000
1,010
6,000 900
5,161
10,000 9845
600
4,000+ 3.778 600
2,771 418 5,774
302 50007 4,113
2,000 300
0 0
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Total Equity Sales Volume (containerboard)
Az N Vrzand
ERBE SHEZ (FBERIRAR)
HK$ million '000 tons
2,996
10,000 1 3000
2,645
8,467
8,034 2500
8,000 1
6,571 20001
6,000 1 1,672
1500
1,235
4,000 1 3,577 1004
3,041 1000+
2,000 500
0
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFEPBHHRE

Year ended 31 March
BEZ=A=1+—-HLEE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
“EERF —ETRE —TEtF —ZTT)\F gy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHT FHT FHT FHT TET

RESULTS 4
Revenue WA 2,771,423 3,778,054 5,160,552 8,996,113 9,649,365
Profit before tax BREL AT & F 423,436 625,586 1,041,005 1,499,146 337,470
Income tax expense MERFE X (5,693) (25,558) (30,894) (68,026) (37,111)
Profit for the year FERH 417,743 600,028 1,010,111 1,431,120 300,359
Attributable to: AL

Equity holders of the Company ARERFEA 417,743 600,028 1,010,204 1,441,329 302,117

Minority interests DR E — — (93) (10,209) (1,758)

417,743 600,028 1,010,111 1,431,120 300,359
At 31 March
R=A=t+-H
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

~TTRF ~TIAF ~TRLF —TRNF R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Far  Tanr Tan Tin RS

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY ¥E - BERER

Total assets EERE 4,113,393 5,774,016 9,845,200 17,014,989 EEHF/F3L)
Total liabilities BERE (1,071,932)  (2,196,972)  (3,274,499)  (8,980,680) [ &Ll L)}

3,041,461 3,577,044 6,570,701 8,034,309 8,466,845

Equity attributable to equity ARERTTAA

holders of the Company 1G5 3,041,461 3,577,044 6,570,794 8,044,611 8,466,845
Minority interests DY R = — - (93) (10,302) =
Total equity BnilE 3,041,461 3,577,044 6,570,701 EXEZRCCl 8,466,845

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted ARARR -_ZTEZ=FRAA_-+—HRH
company in the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and became the ZSHEFMEZNMEL AR E AT
holding company of the Group as a result of a group reorganisation W R AEBEEEAMN _ZEE=F 1 A K
in September 2003. The financial summary has been presented on /&7~ & E &9 12 f% A 7] » Bt 45 2 T R
the basis that the Company had been the holding company of the AT ESE2RHBMHEBL —BEEAE
Group from the beginning of the earliest period presented. ERAGREEMZR -
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MAJOR EVENTS OF THE YEAR
EFEKRE

2008

June

The Group’s twelveth production line
(PM12) commenced operation at
Hongmei plant, with an annual
capacity of 350,000 tons of
containerboard.

Received the Green Medal of the “One
Factory-One Year-One Environmental
Project” of the Federation of Hong
Kong Industries.

EE R E+ = KL EHSPMIE G
FEI%E © FE#E350,000M8 F 1R R AL ©

EEBTXEERE —F KRR
A8 —REBEENF -

O Wt HANG SENG

‘ = IR A
Fuun! Aot [ [ rwsarantdd A

wman Jmm

This Certificate is presented to

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Ltd
BIERERAT

Y

LLL L L)

Jiangsu Lee & Man received OHSAS
18001 certification and IECQ
QC080000 on Hazardous Substance
Process Management certification.

JT % F2 X 7 15 OHSAS 18001 B 2 fi# fF £
%2518 X R E RIECQ QC0800004F
EYEBEETEBRARE -

October

The Group’s thirteenth production line
(PM13) commenced operation at
Chongging plant, with an annual
capacity of 300,000 tons of
containerboard.

The Group disposed Evergreen Pulp at
a consideration of HK$200 million.

SEET=ZKREERKPMI)EEERE
B £ 4E300,000H8 A5 AR R AR o

SEL2EBITHEREAREEET -

Awarded “2009&BkEx ARk K2 LA R" by World
Eminence Chinese Business Association.

Received “2008 The Best 30 Pulp and Paper Making
Enterprises in China” award from China Paper Association.

ettt RGN EE RS ERI20002 K AKREER EWAA ]
B EAR 5 2 AT E & [ 2008 4F [E 2 B il R AE AR 3038 (D 3 |

Received “The 4th Capital Outstanding China Enterprise
Award — Outstanding Paper Manufacturing Corporation”
from Capital Magazine.

BEERMARR[EWEE A DB ERHE— RS
ERF R -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the fiscal year of 2008/2009, the Group achieved a turnover of
HK$9,649 million and has recorded a profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of HK$302 million. During the year, the
Group recorded unprecedented losses in the third quarter due to
global financial tsunami resulting in a sharp contraction of the market
and drop in our selling prices which greatly impacted on the full
year’s results of the Group.

During the year, our PM12 in Hongmei plant and PM13 in Chonqging
plant commenced production, and thereby boosting the Group’s total
annual containerboard capacity to 3.76 million tons. As the global
economic situation slowly improves, our fourth quarter’s performance
was back within normal range in terms of sales volume and
profitability. The management remains optimistic about the future.

OUTLOOK

The management believes that the worst is definitely over. Our
165,000 tons per annum pulp production line at Chongging plant is
now in trial production phase. While not increasing the debt level,
we are now planning to start PM16 to meeting the growing demands
of containerboard. Further, the Group will start the production of fine
paper to take full advantage of our own forest and pulp resources.

In the meantime, the management will focus on cost control, sales
network expansion, more value-added services to our customers, and
products diversification. Financially, the management will focus on
improvement of cash flow and debt reduction, which includes the
postponement of our Vietnam expansion plans and the reduction of
working capital needs in order to increase our competitiveness. When
the global economic situation improves, we expect to generate
higher profits and a better return for our shareholders and potential
investors.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong
20 July 2009

E O

200809 F I IR FE - ANE&E B 815 & 2
®H96.49 878 7T & R R FE 15 & F3.02 {8 7
o BN XEREMEBITE M5
SEZR HEERER S5BESE
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ERABIHBNE T —RERARREE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
vy

EEEF R

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Turnover and net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2009 was HK$9,649 million and
HK$302 million, representing an increase of 7.3% and a decrease of
79.0%, as compared to HK$8,996 million and HK$1,441 million,
respectively, for last year. The basic earnings per share for the year
was HK26.56 cents when compared with HK127.22 cents for last
year.

The increase in turnover was mainly attributable to the increase in
the Group’s sales of containerboard due to the result of the full year
commercial operation of PM9, PM10 and PM11 and commercial
operation of PM12 and PM13 during the year.

As a result of financial tsunami causing a sharp contraction of the
market which in turn led to the decline in customer orders and drop
in selling price during the third quarter of the financial year, the
Group recorded a significant decrease in net profit for the year ended
31 March 2009.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses was HK$253 million for
the year ended 31 March 2009 as compared to HK$272 million for
the year ended 31 March 2008. It represented about 2.6% of the
turnover for the year ended 31 March 2009 and was slightly
decreased as compared to that of 3.0% for the year ended 31 March
2008.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 22 %
from HK$338 million for the year ended 31 March 2008 to HK$411
million for the year ended 31 March 2009 as a result of the expansion
in the operation of the Group and the increase in the Group'’s
turnover during the year.

TR MK e g
RS

HE-_ZZAF=A=+—HILEEHW
R N IR B AL 45 A Bl A2 9649188
TTN302EETT  BEF KG9 EE T

R1aa1 &t 5 pl#Em73% &k T &%
79.0% ° AFERNFREF) A2656781 -

EFR) AE127.22784 -

EERLIATEREARLAEESE AR
EFTHREE+T - RERKEERFLEER
ET_HERET=2REARRAFER
E S AREMRREHEE EFME -

HREREW mHERLZEWE <
SEF=-FEXPIERRIMLEHEE
BERTY® SEEBHE_TTNF=FA
=t R LRSS ERKE -

=

AREERZE_ZTALF=A=1+—H1
FENH %ﬁ&ﬁﬁm/\ AB253BABTT - i
BE NFZRA=T—HBLFER
anmﬁ HEZZNF=-A=1+—
HIEFENDHEREEBLEZEFEEM
T¥H=ZE26% MEBE_ZTTENF=A=
T—BIEFERR3.0% -

THREH

AEBNITREADNABE-ZTFT)N
FZA=1T—HIEFEM3BEET L
NEBE_TZENAF=A=1T—HBLF

ER41EBIT  BIN422% - TTHE A
EEN RASAEBERFARERS

B ARAREENE ERIRNATE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (E)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs was HK$219 million for the year ended 31
March 2009 as compared to HK$86 million for the year ended 31
March 2008. The increase was mainly due to the increase in average

amount of outstanding bank borrowings during the year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 66 days and 20 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 March 2009 as compared to 105 days and 11 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 March 2008. The significantly improved
inventory turnover days was due to the reduced raw material costs

and the reduction of stock up period.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 41 days for the year ended
31 March 2009 as compared to 69 days for the year ended 31 March
2008. The debtors’ turnover days shortened significantly due to

tighter controls and better receivables management.

The Group’s creditors’ turnover days were 19 days for the year ended
31 March 2009 as compared to 37 days for the year ended 31 March
2008 as the Group settled much of its creditors’ balances near year
end. The creditors’ turnover days were expected to improve going
forward given the Group’s higher bargaining power in light of the
industry consolidation.

1 15 AN

BHE_TZENF=A=+—RHILFE"
REBOMBRAR219EET - MRAE
Z_ETN\EF=ZRA=+—-—BLFEHAR
86ABBBIL - MM A LT ETEANF
WAREE FHRITEFTIE MR -

78 BUERRKREMSERE
=

REBREBEE-_ZTTNAF=A=+—H1
FEEENRBEENKRFERESS 5
66 A K208 - MAREBZE_ZTZENF=
A=+—REFEA SR /H1058 k11
He FERAEBHARREEZTZAREM
B RfFA B -

AEERBE_TTZANF=ZA=1+—H
LFEENRKERFER R4 B MR
BE_ZTTNF=A=+—HBILFE]
6B - BUMEREAEMAERE TR
MR EERENEENE R REIEEUWE

N
AN

AAEERFERAR N KRE D BN
R IAASERBE_TTNAF=
AZ+ - BLEFENENERNAERS
19 MRBE_TTENF=A=+—
BIEFERIAR37AH - ARTTERSHE
AEBREEERERD  FILEETE
HEMEREAEHTEEMNE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN®E D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 March 2009 was
HK$8,467 million (31 March 2008: HK$8,034 million). As at 31
March 2009, the Group had current assets of HK$5,747 million (31
March 2008: HK$5,736 million) and current liabilities of HK$5,690
million (31 March 2008: HK$4,371 million). The current ratio was
1.01 as at 31 March 2009 as compared to 1.31 at 31 March 2008.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 March 2009, the Group had
outstanding bank borrowings of HK$8,542 million (31 March 2008:
HK$7,101 million). These bank loans were secured by corporate
guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31
March 2009, the Group maintained bank balances and cash of
HK$1,659 million (31 March 2008: HK$318 million). The Group’s net
debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash and cash
equivalents over shareholders’ equity) decreased from 0.84 as at 31
March 2008 to 0.81 as at 31 March 2009.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to

meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi or United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 March 2009.
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group has used currency
structured instruments, foreign currency borrowings or other means

to hedge its foreign currency exposure.

RBES  MBERRERES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (E)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had a workforce of more than 7,000
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its

employees.

The Group has a Share Option Scheme whereby employees of the
Group are granted options to acquire shares in the Company.

1=

RZZETNF=ZA=+—0 KA&EEH%
BH7008E8T - BREFHMEFVAD
FHKFE YT EBFEN BEIEE
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il
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

%A—A— \Ai

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the
Company believes that sound and reasonable corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and maximizing shareholders’ interests. During the year
under review, the Company has complied with the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely

receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-

day operations of the Group.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2009. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the
Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERRE (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive Directors:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond BBS JP
Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive Director:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP

Independent Non-executive Director:
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of four executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. The three independent non-
executive directors represent one-third of the Board. In addition,
three of the independent non-executive directors possess appropriate
legal, professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

IRREBAERES BEEREERK
EREBREFEER AR HEAN
RINEBEIRARANBETERES
NHRE EFAEREZRAMAES®
FH -AREBERE —ExERE
BERHEXHEEREM A ERRARN
BEXATEEF BHENGRLETER
BENEANXXZSEEEMN  HTER -

EFEeNESZR O R LB MAH
EHRMZECHMERT MBEEEHE
REMEFE XM RERER LER
ERHEHEN FEFSANRRE
TR AR A R IR Y HI T

FR CEHERESFS ZEFULRF

BRI -

Number of board
meetings attended/Total

HE AHEESY
Name of director EEHA =P8
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick FEREE 3/4
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss s I & St A BBS A P 4/4
Mr Lee Man Bun ZOW A 2/4
Mr Li King Wai Ross E P /4
Prof Poon Chung Kwong 68s Jp E RN GBS A Pt 3/4
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FREREA 4/4
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies %t 4 3/3
Mr Chau Shing Yim David BER K E 2/2
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth 5 f2/ N (7A20094E1 A1 HBHT) 3/4

(resigned on 1 January 2009)

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng e s6 % 45 £ (200844 B30 B BHE) N/A

(resigned on 30 April 2008)
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ERERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current
members include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were adopted in 2003 to conform to the provisions of
the Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group’s financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2009.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FR ABHZ=ZRBERZESSH @

KB EFEBERFEINAT

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of member REEH HEAHEERAE
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRERLE 3/3
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 5t 4 ”n
(appointed on 21 July 2008) (FA2008F 7 A21HEZ )
Mr Chau Shing Yim David B K A& ”n
(appointed on 1 October 2008) (F2008F 10 A 1HEET)
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth 7 318/ ME (FA20094F 1 A1 HEHE) 2/3
(resigned on 1 January 2009)
Mr Heng Kwoo Seng 567 58 4 (A 20084F4 B30 H BHE) 17

(resigned on 30 April 2008)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the
current members include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive directors. The Remuneration Committee advises the Board
on the Group’s overall policy and structure for the remuneration of
directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee
ensures that no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding
his own remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were adopted in 2005 to conform to the provisions of
the Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in
the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. Two
Remuneration Committee meetings were held during the year and all
members have attended in the meeting.

FHMEES
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the auditor of the Company only

provided audit services to the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk

management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2009, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERRE (&)

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TtEHEER

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws or regulations and to make valuable suggestions
and recommendations for improvement. In the next five years, the
Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to ensure high
environmental standards are persistently met in the key areas of
production process, waste water treatment, water and energy

consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group’s advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 97% recycling rate (i.e. 97% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams over the
world and we have also sponsored several local companies to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

Water Consumption and Waste Water Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the quality of the waste
water treatment and the amount of water reused in the production
process. To minimize water pollution in the production process, the
Group currently employs the world’s most advanced waste water
treatment technology, the two stage aerobic anaerobic treatment,
which results in waste water discharged to adhere to the highest
standards set by the national environment bureau. Our current COD
discharge is at 80mg/ml, while the national discharge standard is at
100mg/ml. More importantly, by reusing waste water in our
production process, we can significantly reduce the water
consumption to less than 10m*ton of paper produced and this is

more than ten times the national average.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. It can be achieved
by generating power more efficiently and to use less energy in the
paper making process. The Group aims to achieve these goals by
using better technology (such as changing our existing motors to
frequency-controlled motors) and simply by managing better.
Currently, we operate at 0.43 ton of standard coal per ton of paper
produced and our target is to reduce to less than 0.40 ton of
standard coal per a ton of paper produced in the next five year. This
level is substantially less than the national average of 1.3 ton of

standard coal per ton of paper produced.

Emission Control

Reduce energy consumption leading to less emission. All our coal-
fired power plants are installed with particulate filtration and
desulphurization equipments and the discharge emission are always
monitored on-lined ensuring the emission levels are met with the

national regulatory requirements.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staffs are the most
important resources and their well-being, growth and performance
are tided tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working
and living environment, the Group has carried out various actions to
continuously reviewing and improving policies and facilities.
Moreover, the Group also pays high concern on its staff's career
development. Through a carefully designed internal training system
and continuous effort in identifying potential talents, the Group aims
to help its staffs develop multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and
craft a career path that can unleash their potentials and elevate their
values to satisfy their growth needs and to better align with the
Group’s strategy and growth.

Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resource, Lee & Man is committed to provide employees with
pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe that
only through building a satisfying and committed workforce we can,
as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our
management is open to listen to our staff’s voice and advice.

The Group always review and improve catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes much effort in
organizing cultural events and recreational activities to enrich its
staffs and their families’ lives. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough times such as sicknesses and

accidents.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)
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Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay extremely attention in helping staff
to acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organized a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidizing staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man's performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staffs are selected to enter our management trainee
program that aims to set new heights to their career path. The Group
has also sent students to Guangzhou’s South China University of
Technology for a two-year diploma course on paper making
technology that are fully funded by the Group and students are
placed into various positions after graduation.

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility. To demonstrate
our past efforts in protecting the environment, each of the
Huangyong plant and Jiangsu plant have been awarded the ISO
14001 certification for environmental management. During the year,
Lee & Man Paper was awarded the “Green Medalist” by The
Federation of Hong Kong Industries to cite our successful and
completion of environmental projects in air emission control, water
consumption and energy consumption that were continuously carried
out in the plant. In addition to the ISO 14001 certification, our plants
have also been granted the ISO 9001 certification for quality

management.

To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our
Huangyong plant and Jiangsu plant were granted with OHSAS 18001
certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating our
commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of working
environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken various
measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as

ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.

ERERES

BYERRPAEIRARNKARRAEE
E IAEBEEEIEEEETEERN
RiTAEARERXRE - BHEZT@E
REMAMDAREMBRRXBE TS
B SEBFEHER - RZIABHFIR
BREBETHEELEE SETHRE
BTXRI WEBEERARINET
FXEEBIRE KTEIZ—ES
e - SENSBRRELBNEMNER
BTREEESIMEERRMN R
K2 MAEERABEEEY BEEX
BRGLZHDNEEEETRBAL A TAE -

RERRE

BYER-—RABOAMEESELESET
MBS E -  SENEERE KL HRK
B EESISO 14001 IR B EREEFERE -
BHEEBEAHRRELNS N - FR -
BYERESESILXBSRB (%
EIRA RBEERERETEBESR
P KEREREREESRRIEL L
MEREKE - B SEKEITRE
ISO 9001 & B E IR RE ©

ZEHNITERBERIFFTERZ - SEIFE
BMIETITNZE2RIERBEEE &8
T = I L 5 2 9 Bl B OHSAS 18001
BERERLZE2RE  FAWELD KM
BB EANTEERE  BERD
BANEAE - R EETIHE - FAEER
FMEBRITHEBEERT -

24 Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2008/09 Annual Report



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Huangyong and Jiangsu have
also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and

that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as

a whole.

o HIEHRE  EERE RIIERE
JREX/SIECQ QCO80000 A8 £ ¥ E B 12 & 12
RE- URBFANAARSEFUHEHE
MmiEL BZHEERNERREAREE "
TEEERENEEME -

BYEREE2EZHAAZHE B

A PIABBERAKE RS RELHE
MOTRREBEBULEMELNER -

BIGERAR AR 2008/09 F3 25



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, aged 66, Chairman of the Company
and founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff recruitment,
staff management, corporate strategy, building construction and
public relations for the Group in the PRC. He has over 46 years of
experience in manufacturing and international trade. Mr Lee is the
former standing member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Guangdong Province and former chairman of Hong Kong Hainan
Commercial Association. He is now the honorary principal of the
Qionghai Jiaji Secondary School and Hainan Guoxing Secondary

School. He has also been awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8ss, Jp, aged 38, Chief Executive
Officer as well as founder of the Company, is primarily in charge of
corporate planning, investment projects and acquisition of heavy
production machines. Mr Lee has over fifteen years of operational
experience in paper manufacturing and is experienced in professional
formula of paper making and product development. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in applied science from the University of British
Columbia. Mr Lee is currently involved in a number of public
engagements. Mr Lee has been awarded honorary citizenship of
Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu. Mr Lee was the
“Young Industrialist Award of HongKong 2002" and “2003 Hong
Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. In 2005,
Mr Lee received the “Bronze Bauhinia Star” (BBS) from the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and in
2007, he was appointed non-official Justice of the Peace (JP). In
2008, Mr Lee was also appointed the CPPCC National Committee.
He is also an independent non-executive director of the listed
company, Bossini International Holdings Limited. Mr Lee is the eldest

son of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (conminueD)

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 28, Executive Director and Assistant General
Manager of the Company, is responsible for production management,
research & development, repair and maintenance of production
machines and factory staff management. Mr Lee holds a bachelor’s
degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from the
University of British Columbia in Canada. He is the member of the
Political Consultative Committee of Guangdong Province and also
the Vice Chairman of Yan Chai Hospital Board of Directors. He joined
the Group in July 2003. Mr Lee is the youngest son of Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick.

Mr Li King Wai Ross, aged 34, Executive Director and Assistant
General Manager of the Company, is responsible for the daily factory
management of Hangmen factory, purchasing of recovered paper as
well as maintaining relationship of various government departments
in Don guan. Mr Li holds a Masters Degree in Science (Electrical
Engineering) from Stanford University in U.S.A. and a bachelor’s
degree of Applied Science (Computer Engineering) from University of
British Columbia in Canada. Mr Li has over 9 years of experience in
production management and in technological research &

development. He joined the Group in December 2002.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Gss jp, aged 69, the non-executive
director of the Group, is the former President of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and has over 40 years working experience in
educational sector. He was appointed Non-official Justice of the
Peace (JP) in 1989; received the OBE in 1991 and the Gold Bauhinia
Star (GBS) in 2002.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EERSNEEEGN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 66, an independent non-executive
Director of the Group, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries.

Mr Peter A Davies, aged 66, an independent non-executive Director
of the Group, is a retired lawyer. He has over 40 years of experience
in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a barrister in
England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a partner of
Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and the head of
the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice of Hong
Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong in
1974.

Mr Chau Shing Yim David, aged 45, an independent non-executive
Director of the Group, has over 20 years' experience in corporate
finance, working on projects ranging from initial public offerings and
restructuring of PRC enterprises for cross-border and domestic
takeovers. He was formerly a partner of one of the big four
accounting firms in Hong Kong, heading the Merger and Acquisition
and Corporate Advisory Services. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England
and Wales (“ICAEW") with the Corporate Finance Qualification
granted by ICAEW, and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Chau was an ex-committee member of
the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. He is an executive director of
Tidetime Sun Holdings Limited and a non-executive director of
Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited and
Varitronix International Limited, both are listed on the main board of

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 49, is the project manager (power
station and piers) of the Group, responsible for all the mechanical
and electrical engineering projects. Mr Chan holds a bachelor’s
degree of science in engineering from the University of Hong Kong.
Mr Chan has over 26 years of operational experience in managing
production and engineering aspects of manufacturing businesses and
joined the Group in January 2001.

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 42, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group responsible for the internal supervision and management
of the Group’s financial matters and company secretary of the
Company. Mr Cheung is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over 20
years of experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financial
management. Mr Cheung holds a professional diploma in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr Cheung
is also an independent non-executive director of the listed company,
MAE Holdings Limited (to be named Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited).
He joined the Group in August 2002.

Mr Yan Jean Goo, aged 43, is the general manager of Guangxi Lee
& Man Forestry responsible for plantation management. Mr Yan
holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of Xiamen
and has over 21 years of experience in production and operation
management. He joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr Chan Chi Ho, aged 41, is an assistant general manager,
responsible for industrial paper production management of the
Group. Mr Chan has over 20 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr Chan
was former production manager of Jiangsu plant and rejoined the

Group in February 2009.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivueD)

Mr Wu Pak Ping, aged 43, is the general manager of the Chongging
Lee & Man and is responsible for the construction of Chongging
industrial park. Mr Wu holds a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering
from the University of Hunan is awarded the professional title of
“Senior Engineer” in 2008 and has over 23 years of experience in
planning and managing infrastructure. He joined the Group in April

1997.

Mr Lau Kwok Keung, aged 52, is the executive manager of Jiangsu
Lee & Man responsible for the daily operation and management of
Jiangsu Lee & Man. Mr Lau holds a bachelor’s degree of science
(engineering) from Imperial College of Science and Technology,
University of London. He has over 21 years of factory operation and

management experience. He joined the Group in July 2003.

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 46, is the senior manager of the Company,
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. Mr Tse holds a bachelor’s degree of science in electrical
engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He has over 22 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local
companies in China. Mr Tse joined the Group in December 2005.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 40, is the sales manager of the Group
responsible for sales and marketing. Ms Lam holds a higher certificate
in marketing and sales management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms Lam has over 19 years of work experience in sales and
marketing. She joined the Group in March 1996.

Mr Luk Wai Keung Philip, aged 39, Senior Production Manager of
the Group, is responsible for the quality control management and
product development. Mr Luk holds a Master of Science in
Engineering Business Management from The University of Warwick in
United Kingdom. He has more than 17 years of working experience

in the manufacturing industry. He joined the Group in May 2007.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 are set

out in the consolidated income statement on page 42.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$2,459 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. Details of this and other movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive directors

Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8ss Jjp (Chief executive officer)
Lee Man Bun

Li King Wai Ross
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Gss Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Wong Kai Tung Tony
Peter A Davies

Chau Shing Yim David
Law Kar Shui Elizabeth
Heng Kwoo Seng

(appointed on 21 July 2008)

(appointed on 1 October 2008)

(resigned on 1 January 2009)

(resigned on 30 April 2008)

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87(1) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr Lee Man Bun, Mr Li
King Wai Ross and Mr Chau Shing Yim David retire and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond have
each entered into service agreements with the Company for an initial
period of three years commencing 1 September 2007, which will
continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August
2007, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Li King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 12 August
2008, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors
is the period up to his/her retirement as required by the Company’s

Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES” INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2009, the relevant interests or short positions of the
directors or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") which are required to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they have taken or
deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or were
required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or were required, pursuant to the relevant
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions
by directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

Long positions

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

EERFTETHRAERRAEAIHE
BRSTEENESRXE

N—BERE=ZA=+—0 ARAE
EERFTETHRABEARA S E B
ZE(EERBSRBEGRM([FHREH
BRA ) E+RI) MRG - HEARD K
EER BHAELABREZESFRBE KL
FTRAHAFIRFESD AR EMEARNA A
MEBBERZHBRAE ([BRZA])
WEBEZIAE (RIEEREZS R
EROINBEGEXHERIEXEEEEN
EREAR) RIBRIBEBEFLRAEEME
352 {78 50 8% 70 5% 1R FT 5 O 2 Re i A A 4
HRABRIRIEB R ESF EMEA (T E
TR EVEFTETELRINEGH
WS ME AN A B R B < BT B 25 8k A
2T

(@) ARFFHEEOI0E T T B

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares the issued

subject to share capital

Number of options granted of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares BREMNBRER WGHAXALATCHT

EEnS Eg0) ZEREE PRNEBERHE BRABD L

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled 716,847,200 — 63.03%

=S corporation (Note)
mREHEEER (M)

Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner — 30,492,000 2.68%
FXE EREAA

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner — 20,300,000 1.78%
£ EREAA

Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 150,000 480,000 0.06%
BRI EnfBA

Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 400,000 — 0.04%
FRER EnfBA

Note: These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”). Gold
Best is a controlled corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun (all of
them are directors of the Company). Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr
Lee Man Chun Raymond, both of whom are directors of the Company,
are directors of Gold Best.

Bt 5% © %55 1% 1% 1 Gold Best Holdings Ltd. ([ Gold
Best]) A - RIEES R E KA -
Gold Best /& 28 8 o 4 2 TR HIEE -
Gold Best®) & S B B /TR A T iE 58
S BEEEERTIOREE (R
HRARBEE)FE - FEREER
FXBEE(ZAHABEARBES) A
Gold Bestz &% °
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES (conTinuED)

Long positions (Continued) HE(E)

(b)

Ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the (b)

Company

KX A EEOE B & BB

Percentage of
the issued share
capital of the

Name of associated

associated Number of corporation

Name of director Capacity corporation  ordinary shares B EED

BESHE g7 HEEEER EEREE BTREBEIHL

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 51 51%
ESE BB A (P 3E)

Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 29 29%
FXH& BB A (P 3E)

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 20 20%
3@} BB A (BH&E)

Note: Gold Best is an associated corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick
under the SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man

Bun (all of them are directors of the Company). Mr Lee Wan Keung

Miak - RIBEH R EIE KD - Gold Best /3 3 iE
3% St HE ) AR ESE A B © Gold BestM) 2 32
BITRABFERLEE  FTXEEER
FEXRAEE(RHHARRBNES)F

B FBRLEERTNBEE(ZAY
ABARNFIEE) BGoldBestZ EE ©

Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, both of whom are directors of
the Company, are directors of Gold Best.

BEXHRBENRGR TETESER
BEAUEEEARADAZEE TH
BAAMETREN R-BEAF=

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in
subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the Company, none

of the directors or chief executives or their associates had any

interests or short positions in any shares, underlying sharesor HA=+t—H &% FETHAER

debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as 1 % B B & A T BI M 72 AR A 7] 3k K AF

at 31 March 2009. HEAE M D - HERDHESFT
BEREMERIAR -
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note
30 to the financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
option scheme during the year:

B

ARBBRETENFHERR

MIEE30

T’ilJEH%%Z?Eﬁ’A

Number of shares of the Company
to be issued upon exercise of the share options

B 7% ] R

ELSERANE- e R

RBREETERET
BITHNARATRGEHE
Exercise
price per Outstanding Outstanding
share at 1 April Cancelled Lapsed at 31 March
=90 2008 Granted during during 2009
Date of THEE Exercisable —ZEZENE during the year the year —EZThE
Name grant HK$ period B—H theyear FRIH FREX® =ZA=+-—H
£ ®EHBEH BT T HARTE FARD #Aa A i R AT
Category I: Directors
¥ ES
Li King Wai Ross EX g 23.12.2005 8.50 23.12.2005 to 600,000 — — (600,000) —
22.12.2008
Lee Man Chun FX & 3.10.2006 15.10  1.1.2008 to 492,000 — — — 492,000
Raymond 31.12.2010
5.09.2008 7.488 1.09.2009 to — 30,000,000 — — 30,000,000
31.08.2013
Lee Man Bun E3@i) 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 300,000 — — — 300,000
31.12.2010
5.09.2008 7.488 1.09.2009 to — 20,000,000 —_ — 20,000,000
31.08.2013
Poon Chung ERN 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 480,000 — — — 480,000
Kwong 31.12.2010
Category II: Other employees
£-8 8
Employees EE8 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 3,396,000 —  (2,676,000) — 720,000
31.12.2010
Employees (== 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2009 to 300,000 — (300,000) — —
31.12.2010
Total FEE 5,568,000 50,000,000 (2,976,000) (600,000) 51,992,000
The closing prices of the Company’s shares on the dates of grantof RZ-ZZZERF+_HA_+=H ZZTZF
23 December 2005, 3 October 2006 and 5 September 2008 were ~F+HA=ZH kK= fiJ\Eﬂﬂ hHE
HK$8.50, HK$15.10 and HK$6.70, respectively. HHHEAARRARAREZWRTES B A
850/ 7T * 15108 7T X 6.70/8 7T °

BIGERAR AT 2008/09 F3

35



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

%éiﬁi (IIE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any
of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities (including
debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate and none
of the directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had

exercised any such rights.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2009, the following persons (other than directors or
chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the ordinary shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

EEREROIEZHED

B EX[HBRE] —SmEEEN AQ
A HERAR - EAMRARZRWE R R
K BT A B RY B P9 AT ) 5 PR ARE A BT S AF
M2 BEARRESAERKEBAR
NA AR EAEABENRDKESR
BEHE(RIEERESE) MERFZ  mM&E
ERHRENEBRISHEA TN F L&
AREBARBBLFMTMER - HET
2 SRR -

FERR

RZZEZAF=ZA=+—8 "' THA(RK
NEIEBREFEITRABRIN EARAF
WEBRPEEREBEZSFRBAEKNE

THEE2REINDEBHHRTEER AR A
BFEOEZIAE  IBREEFESFREE
Bl 25336 18 M0 1 B B iR 8 R A A BlR %
BEEMNECMANERIAR

"R

RAFEFREEIOE LA & B

Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity BEO®T LA QR S BT

IR Rt & g7 EERHE RAEB DL

Gold Best Beneficial owner 716,847,200 63.03%

EnEAA

Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (Note) 716,847,200 63.03%

FEER HECMEBIEA (M)

Note: Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these
716,847,200 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a
beneficial owner of the Company.

et : RBEFHFRBAERY  ARFTERBERFTER
(ARARBXBEAAN)WES  UWEAES
% 716,847 200/% B A M= -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (conminueD)
Long positions (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed-
upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected transactions
of the Group. The auditor has reported to the board of directors the
factual findings arising on these procedures. The independent non-
executive directors have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions and the report of the auditor and have confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions entered into by the Company
were in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favorable than terms available
to or from independent third parties, and in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole.

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. In the
opinion of the independent non-executive directors, these
transactions entered into by the Group were:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continuEeD)

(i) either (@) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable
so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there are no such agreements, on terms no less
favourable than those available to or from independent third

parties; and

(iv)  within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS" INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected Transactions”, there
were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at

any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were approximately 84% of the Group’s total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest

supplier were approximately 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 10% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital

of any of the five largest suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 March 2009.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance and medical cover and share options are also
provided.

The determination of emoluments of the directors of the Company
has taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$4,010,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong

20 July 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 M % A

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN PAPER
MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 148,
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2009,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are

reasonable in the circumstances.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BB RS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and true
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2009 and
of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 July 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

A W

For the year ended 31 March 2009 EZ—ZZENF=H=+—HIFFE

2009

—EENF

Notes HK$’'000
B 5 FET

9,649,365
(8,606,348)

Revenue A

Cost of sales H & AR

Gross profit EH

Other income EH A

Net loss from fair value changes ATEF BT AERAFE
of derivative financial instruments % 8 4 & % 918

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAREE

Distribution and selling expenses 55 2 54 & &

Administrative expenses THER

Share of loss of an associate
Finance costs

FEMREE R AIE 1R
LR AP RN

1,043,017
6 190,422

(10,919)

34(a) (1,820)
(253,244)

(411,143)

7 (218,843)

337,470
8 (37,111)

9 300,359

302,117
(1,758)

300,359

12 170,607

HK cents
A

Profit before tax B B AT &

Income tax expense FMBERH

Profit for the year FEAF

Attributable to: FEAE -

Equity holders of the Company NS ESSE XN

Minority interests L E R

Dividends & =

Earnings per share istii gl 13
— Basic — AR
— Diluted —#8
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2008
—ET)N\F
HK$'000
FAET
8,996,113
(6,843,488)

2,152,625
221,099

(177,552)

(272,326)
(338,313)
(1

)
(86,386)

1,499,146

(68,026)

1,431,120

1,441,329
(10,209)

1,431,120
409,233

HK cents
il

127.22

126.66



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

RREERER

At31 March 2009 —EENF=A=+—H

Notes
gz

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BE REE 14
Prepaid lease payments BHEENRE 15
Deposits paid for acquisition BEME  BEMK

of property, plant and Rt fEREMNET &

equipment and land use rights 16
Interests in an associate AN 17
Deferred tax assets BRI & E 26
Retirement benefit assets RIKBNEE 27
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories BE 18
Prepaid lease payments A HEERE 15
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 & HAbBR K 19
Amounts due from an associate JE i BS & A R IR 20
Amounts due from related JE Y7 B i A B 5RIR

companies 21
Derivative financial instruments THEMBEITE 25
Tax recoverable A] 3R [B1 5 18
Restricted bank deposits BREFIEITER 22
Bank balances and cash RITEB IS 22
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTHEMBITE 25
Trade and other payables FEE 5 R HEMERK 23
Tax payable FE T 718
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 24
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFRE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRDEE

CURRENT LIABILITIES

2009
=t L 3X:
HK$'000
FiBT

12,222,870
336,513

314,951
55,000
202

12,929,536

1,635,918
14,018
2,146,879
253,999

22,129
5,064
7,664
1,908

1,659,444

5,747,023

97,854
848,933
5,259
4,738,379

5,690,425

56,598

12,986,134

2008
—ET)\F
HK$'000
TAT

10,005,464
323,705

918,844

29,796
728

11,278,537

2,499,167
17,045
2,727,887
141,936

6,516
25,224

489
318,188

5,736,452

192,544
1,391,649
5,452
2,781,310

4,370,955

1,365,497

12,644,034
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

REEEREEX (R)

At31 March 2009 —EENF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EBEEAE —EENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
MI5E F#BT FET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kFRBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTTEBETA 25 139,347 162,307
Other payables HhBR K 23 364,042 —
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 24 3,803,321 4,319,534
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 26 212,579 108,470
Retirement benefit liabilities BAREAEE 27 — 19,414
4,519,289 4,609,725
8,466,845 8,034,309

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital & A 29 113,738 113,738
Reserves HE 8,353,107 7,930,873

Equity attributable to equity [t NN &

holders of the Company HEA A 8,466,845 8,044,611
Minority interests L E R = (10,302)
Total equity B % 8,466,845 8,034,309

The consolidated financial statements on pages 42 to 148 were SN ZEF148BFEMNEGEATMEBREER
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 —ZEZhAFLtA - +HEKEZEF e EN

July 2009 and are signed on its behalf by: BRETE UYHTNIEEFRERES:
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Z & Lee Man Chun Raymond Z X {&
Chairman /& Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ReEmZER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & if —EEA=A=+—HIF/Z

notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

46

The capital contribution was arisen from the disposal of subsidiaries to a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group’s ultimate holding company. Details of the
disposal of subsidiaries are set out in note 34.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the Company’s
subsidiary in Macau is required to transfer a minimum of 25% of the annual net
profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the subsidiary, until the
reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiary. This reserve is not distributable
to the shareholders.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group
pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in each
of two subsidiaries from their minority shareholders at an aggregate consideration
of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net assets acquired over the
fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to equity.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2008/09 Annual Report

B -
0)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

n/T\ EEI%/)ILE%

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & if —EZFNF=F=+—HIFFE

2009 2008
—EENF ZEENF
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before tax i B 2 7 337,470 1,499,146
Adjustments for: BUATS I8 R
Amortization of prepaid lease TE & SRR 5
payments 21,590 19,139
Depreciation of property, plant ME  BEMKEBEZITE
and equipment 405,571 268,086
Finance costs B 75 B 2N 218,843 86,386
Imputed interest income on FEEREEENF B WA
deferred consideration (1,070) —
Interest income B WA (19,298) (6,609)
Loss on disposal of property, plant H&EW%¥ - MERBBES
and equipment ZEE 8,293 166
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZER 1,820 —
Net loss from fair value changes PTEFBIARAFEEZS
of derivative financial EERFEE
instruments 177,552
Retirement benefit expense RREFF X 832
Share of loss of an associate Bt N R B o B 1
Share-based payments B B 10,886
Write-down on inventories FEMER —
Operating cash flows before HEEREPANLERERE
movements in working capital 1,033,149 2,055,585
Decrease (increase) in inventories  FE ¥ 4 (3 40) 668,615 (1,075,168)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B U E 5 B I N E i BR FOR A
other receivables (3 ) 527,731 (1,467,679)
(Increase) decrease in amounts due FE UL A B8 & A &) 3018 (3L H0) R/ 4
from related companies (15,613) 6,227
Decrease in derivative financial PTEF I AR D
instruments (113,203) (786)
(Decrease) increase in trade and FEREBEF R EMEET G ) &
other payables (62,313) 424,185
Cash generated from (used in) KEXBEE (BHA)NRS
operations 2,038,366 (57,636)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMER (15,979) (28,344)
Overseas income tax paid S AEINA BT 41) 61)
Interest paid BB (350,986) (231,357)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REXKFMEB(BR)MRESFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,671,360 (317,398)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & if —EZFNF=F=+—HIFFE

2009

—2BhEF

Note HK$'000
fi 3% FH

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment
and land use rights

(Advance to) repayment from
an associate

Prepaid lease payments

(Increase) decrease in restricted
bank deposits

Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

REZE
BEWE  BEERB

BEWE  BFERERER

T AR &
() B g naE (B50) &
BN HERRA

A5 1R $13R.17 17 2% (42 90) 38 2>
HEME | R KRR %R

(1,407,856)

(314,951)

(112,063)
(17,578)

(1,395)

154,178
19,298

34 14,055

(1.666,312)

Interest received 2 U B

Proceeds from disposal of HEMB QRS RIE
subsidiaries

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ®REZEBHANRLSEE
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH

New bank and other borrowings
raised

Net proceeds from issue of shares

Repayment of bank and other
borrowings

MERIRITREMERN

BT TS RIRERR
BERTREMER

6,966,510

(5.454,404)
(170,607)

1,341,499

1,346,547

318,188

(G L))

Dividends paid 2R E

Decrease in bank overdrafts RITB WA

NET CASH FROM FINANCING METEFEREFEE
ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRASEEYWFEEME
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B4R BESZEYAF £
BROUGHT FORWARD

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE ExggovE
CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B RESZEYLE
CARRIED FORWARD
represented by bank balances  RITHEHKRIRE

and cash

1,659,444
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2008
—TT)N\F
HK$'000
TAET

(3,239,714)

(918,844)

47,591
(80,816)

1,634

66
6,609

(29,862)

(4,213,336)

9,688,177
7,650

(4,648,151)

(409,233)
(12,045)

4,626,398

95,664
214,985

7,539

318,188



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2009 B ZE _—ZFENF=H=—+—HIFFZE

GENERAL 1.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the Corporate Information section of
the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
39.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"), which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of Financial Assets
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS19 — The Limiton a
Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding
Requirements and their

Interaction
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conminuED)

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on
how the results and financial position for the current or prior
accounting years have been prepared and presented.

Accordingly, no prior year adjustment has been required.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs'

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009?

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Fianncial
Statements’

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs®

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements®

HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable Finanical Instruments

(Amendments) and Obligations Arising on

Liquidation?

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible hedged items*
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a

(Amendments) Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate’

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations®

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combination®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. FEFH%T&WTI R 2B B

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conminuED)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 & HKAS 39

(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments?

Operating Segments®

Embedded Derivatives®

Customer Loyalty Programmes®

Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate’

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation’

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to
Owners*

Transfer of Assets from
Customers®
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conminuED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 except

for the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, 1 July
2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

Effective for transfer on or after 1 July 2009

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2010, HKAS 27 (Revised) will
affect the accounting treatment for changes in a Group's
ownership interest in a subsidiary other than as disclosed above
and HKAS 23 (Revised), the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of the other new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on

the results and the financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the

accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

3.

FTESHEE
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HRAFEFEZETHH AR
Sh - R TN ZBETHE -

RFEUBHRRDRETE M
REBHHZBBRBELEARH - 5
Sh IRAMBHRREBRBRAM L
MR ETARR] R EE R &P
FEETEATHRESEH -

Basis of consolidation mER%E

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial BEMBREHEINARARZARD
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the AESl BB (HWB AR A%
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the WMk -EBEERAAAAREE —K
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating ENPBRELEHEARELE

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of

disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in

line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on

consolidation.
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54

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the
minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at
the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is
presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)
On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the

amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Additional acquisition in subsidiaries

The Group regards the acquisition of partial equity interest of
subsidiaries from minority shareholders without loss in control
as transactions with equity owners of the Group. When
additional equity interest in a subsidiary is acquired, any
difference between the fair value of consideration paid and the
relevant share of the carrying value of the subsidiary’s net assets

acquired is recorded in equity (other reserve).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than freehold land and construction in progress, are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and
construction in progress over their estimated useful lives, and
after taking into account their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is not depreciated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost
less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in the consolidated income

statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a

joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes
in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associates, less any
identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that

associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the relevant associate.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the

financial asset or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from an associate, amount due from
related companies, restricted bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) are carried at amortised cost using effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting

policy on impairment on financial assets below).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Group’s financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not

designated and effective as hedging instruments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets other than those at fair value through profit or
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance
sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of

return for a similar financial asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment

not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of

financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below:

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, where

appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not
designated and effective as hedging instruments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest
paid on the financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in

profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging

instruments for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the entity
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument
that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged

item.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Continued)
Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualified as cash flow hedges are
deferred in equity (hedging reserve). The gain or loss relating to
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Amount deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the
periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, exercised, or no longer qualified for hedge
accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at
that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-—ZFEANF=F=+—HILF&E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when goods are

delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying

amount.

Income from sale of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of services in wharf cargo handling
is recognised in the financial period in which the services are

rendered.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense

over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and buildings

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease
is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of
the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in
land are accounted for as operating leases.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent the up-front payments to
lease medium-term leasehold land interests in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") are charged to the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant leases.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are charged as an
expense when the employees have rendered the services

entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-—ZFEANF=F=+—HILF&E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

For defined retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing
benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method,
with actuarial valuations being carried out annually. All actuarial
gains and losses of defined benefit plans are recognised
immediately in retained profits in the period in which they
occur. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent
that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised
on a straight-line basis over the average period until the

amended benefits become vested.

The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
represents fair value of the plan assets as adjusted for
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, and as reduced by the
present value of the defined benefit obligation. Any asset
resulting from this calculation is limited to unrecognised
actuarial losses and past service cost, plus the present value of
available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the

plan.

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions

The Group has applied HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment to share
options granted on or after 1 January 2005.

Share options granted and vested on or after 1 January
2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a

corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions (Continued)

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be

transferred to retained profits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in

equity.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (“foreign currencies”) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each
balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
balance sheet date, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised as a separate component of equity (the translation
reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. fhstTHERZ 2 EZHRF

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year.

Fair values of derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps,
cross currency interest rate swaps, currency structured
instruments are carried in the balance sheet at fair values, as
disclosed in note 25. The best evidence of fair value is quoted
prices in an active market, where quoted prices are not
available for a particular financial instrument, the Group uses
the market values determined by counterparty financial
institutions to estimate the fair value. The use of
methodologies, models and assumptions in pricing and valuing
these financial assets and liabilities is subjective and requires
varying degrees of judgement by management, which may
result in significantly different fair values and results.

REMARNEEZ 25T BUR (F 50
H3IK - ARBZEFTAHKRES
BEMRFEREECEERAR
ZHEEEFEL A S - B RRER -
ZEGHFREEBRRDEENBE
RBLEMEESEECAEZ - &
PREER BB RN ZEMAT -

R RERRR D EFEEERE
Bl o ¥ sHEEt 2 BRI IER &
TTIERT 2 1 - BN B R
7] HAERT R & B A koK R
HIR - RUPMERT ROR R EAR R -

TXRABREARNH T ERK A
RERRA A T EERZZH A
TEXRR ZFBRIEETEERER
BEEe@ERET —EMBRFEHE
EARBENREAEFELDENRFE
B XER -

TTEMBIARERATFE

TEMBTA (A XREH XXE
B EREBTIA) DR
FESAAEEREER  HWMME2S
PAE - A FEZRERE/NE
BHmEhZ2HE MEX-BYBT
AREMSHRE  AEEKRAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

5. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised
into two operating businesses — manufacture and sales of
paper, and manufacture and sales of pulp. These businesses are
the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment
information.

Segment information about these businesses where inter-
segment sales are charged at prices with reference to the
prevailing market rates is presented below:

2009
Income statement

5. EBKibiE o AR
EL Pk

REEMS  AKRBEREEMER
B EERBEREK  EENMHEE
A ZEXBR/AEEAREE
BRRERZELE -

REWMEDHEER (EBHBER
SELREMISERIKM) 2|WT

—EEAF
Weas &

Pulp Eliminations Consolidated

Paper
HK$'000
FET
REVENUE N
External sales HONEE 9,280,495
Inter-segment sales B HEHEE =
9,280,495
SEGMENT RESULTS PREEE 534,036
Net loss from fair value ALTERE T A
changes of derivative N EERESHES
financial instruments B E B8
Unallocated corporate RoBzRARMA
income
Unallocated corporate Pk - A/NEIb g
expenses
Finance costs B T A AR
Profit before tax i Ang 5
Income tax expense FIBRF X
Profit for the year RE E

AR
HK$°000
THET

368,870
138,237

507,107

(52,468)
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il Bx e
HK$'000 HK$"000
FTER FTER

— 9,649,365
(138,237) —

(138,237) 9,649,365

481,568

(10,919)

91,708

(6,044)
(218,843)

337,470
(37.111)

300,359




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

5. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

(CONTINUED)

2009 (Continued)
Assets and liabilities

ASSETS BE

Segment assets NEEE

Unallocated corporate assets ADEZRRIBE

Consolidated total assets REBEE

LIABILITIES afE

Segment liabilities pak B=Nii

Unallocated corporate liabilites kOB AT AE

Consolidated total liabilities REBERE

Other information

Additions to prepaid FIATENHEERIE
lease payments

Amortisation of prepaid TET T & FRIE
lease payments

Capital expenditure N

Deposits paid for acquisition BEWME BEK
of property, plant and A K b AR
equipment and land use rights FrftE] &

Depreciation of property, L =5
plant and equipment RETE

Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  FE X
plant and equipment REBEENESE

5. EB Rk I &)

—EBNF(A)
BEERAE

Paper
HK$'000
THER

15,859,474

329,975

Paper
HK$'000

FER

17,578

21,590

2,021,729

314,951

398,040

8,293

EERBR AR

Pulp
RN
HK$'000
TET

582,539

Pulp

RE
HK$'000
TR

437,113

2008/09 F;

Consolidated
=Ee
HK$'000
TET

16,442,013
2,234,546

18,676,559

338,221
9,871,493

10,209,714

Consolidated
=a
HK$'000
THET
17,578
21,590
2,458,842
314,951

405,571

8,293
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

5. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 5. EBRumoER (&)

(CONTINUED)
2008 —EENF
Income statement Wezs &£
Paper Pulp  Eliminations Consolidated
4R N5 A B A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
&L BT BT &L
REVENUE A
External sales HINEE 8,403,963 592,150 — 8,996,113
Inter-segment sales ETEHE — 382,002 (382,002) —
8,403,963 974,152 (382,002) 8,996,113
SEGMENT RESULTS ok E ¥ 1,611,009 74,147 — 1,685,156
Net loss from fair value ATEF BT A
changes of derivative N EEHES
financial instruments ) F B 18 (177,552)
Unallocated corporate KBz RARIMA
income 81,280
Unallocated corporate FAOEZRAIZH
expenses (3,351)
Share of loss of an FE(L B N 5] E 1R
associate (1)
Finance costs 81 75 K A (86,386)
Profit before tax 5 B & A 1,499,146
Income tax expense FERFAZ (68,026)
Profit for the year NEE 1,431,120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

5. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 5. EBRumoER (&)

(CONTINUED)
2008 (Continued) —ZEENF (&)
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Paper Pulp  Consolidated
oK N &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NEEE 15,672,449 333,074 16,005,523
Unallocated corporate assets Koz T EE 1,009,466
Consolidated total assets RABEE 17,014,989
LIABILITIES =R
Segment liabilities pak B=Nii 700,024 47,719 747,743
Unallocated corporate liabilities kOB AT AE 8,232,937
Consolidated total liabilities LeERatE 8,980,680
Other information Hui&E#
Paper Pulp  Consolidated
#oR NEE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAET
Additions to prepaid MIATENHEERIE
lease payments 80,816 — 80,816
Amortisation of prepaid T8 15 8 & Fk0E 2 5
lease payments 19,139 — 19,139
Capital expenditure BN N 4,240,308 77,995 4,318,303
Deposits paid for acquisition BEVE BER
of property, plant and SR K b A
equipment and land use rights FRftEl & 918,844 — 918,844
Depreciation of property, ME - BE X
plant and equipment HEITE 256,816 11,270 268,086
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BE R
plant and equipment RBEEREE 166 — 166
BYIERAER AT 2008/09 F3) 77



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

5. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 5. EBRumoER (&)

(CONTINUED)
Geographical segments it 35§, 73 &R
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by THEEKRHWETERER P FTIEH
geographical market based on location of customers, others @ (E 4 E S HE SN 38 M
mainly include countries in Asia other than PRC. 5R) Bl 5 7 £ [ 35 B DA o
Sales revenue by
geographical market
Rith @5
BDoWEHERA
2009 2008
b2 T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
PRC other than Hong Kong R E - FHAEBI 9,243,796 7,686,882
Iran FEA 14,361 88,947
United Arab Emirates Fa] iz {A Bt A 2 R B 3,283 48,880
United States of America x 3,032 84,597
Europe B — 188,822
Others Hh 384,893 897,985
9,649,365 8,996,113
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment REEMEMRSMHO S HEER
assets and capital expenditure, analysed by the geographical HERERAMRAIZOAT :

area in which the assets are located:

Carrying amount of
segment assets Capital expenditure
SHEEREE BEAMRX
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENF —ETNF —BEAF —EE)NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAET TERT FHET

PRC other than R FE

Hong Kong B o1 14,731,650 15,242,809 2,068,782 4,178,226
Vietnam figEa) 484,207 424,154 389,811 62,068
United States of America 3£ — 333,075 — 77,995
Hong Kong F5 1,226,156 5,485 249 14

16,442,013 16,005,523 2,458,842 4,318,303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE MWK (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_-ZFEAF=F=+—HILFF

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HMWA
2009 2008
—EEBNF ZEENF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Compensation income from suppliers  HEEGHIERE MATIEZ
for damaged goods BE1E A 4,818 22,049
Imputed interest income on deferred  ¥EIER (B A& 4 2 K B U A
consideration 1,070 —
Income from sales of steam and HEERARENBA
electricity 16,982 6,217
Income from wharf cargo handling KEBBEEMIRA 38,493 21,301
Interest income from an associate NSRS N 16,004 —
Interest income from banks |RITH B HA 3,294 6,609
Net foreign exchange gains FIEHSE 71,290 74,671
Rental income, net of direct outgoings A& WA + B EE L H = 390
Sales of scrap materials and JEE R} K BE 4R S B
waste paper 28,910
Gain from fair value change of AMEREFASITETLR
derivative embedded in the “%}JEEZ’%E
convertible bonds — 3
Tax credits (note) MBsE R () — 37,826
Others Hiy 27,292 23,123
190,422 221,099
note: Tax credits were granted to Dongguan Lee & Man Paper Factory Co., Ltd. Misr - AR AEEEBEMEMER - BHEE
("Dongguan Lee & Man") during the year ended 31 March 2008 as the BYEERBERAR(TREEX])E
Group reinvested directly the profits generated from Dongguan Lee & ERFIHEEBREERTEN  Bx
Man into it by increasing its registered capital. BYRBE-_SENE=A=+—8H

LFFERERTRGER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

7. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank borrowings wholly

repayable within five years
Interest on convertible bonds
Interest on notes payable

Total borrowing costs
Less: Amounts capitalised in property,
plant and equipment

7. B
2009
—EENE
HK$'000
FTHE T
RAFREBEHREE

IRITIEEF B 299,033
MR ESEEZFE —
ENEEZFE 51,953
I E KA 350,986

WEWE - BEREREZ
ER &5 (132,143)

218,843

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year are calculated by
applying a capitalisation rate of 6% (2008: 5%) of expenditures

on qualifying assets.

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

4 59%) -

8. REBX

The charge comprises:
Current tax
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
— Overseas income tax
Overprovision in previous year
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Deferred tax (note 26)

2009
—EENF
HK$'000
FHT
MIERAZ BT
REFIE
— R BEEMSH
— BINERBRL
EFEBREERE
—HFESEMBER —
EIEFTE (M 3E26) 29,220

37,111

The Group’s profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated. Taxation arising in
other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the

relevant jurisdictions.

W e
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2008
—TE)N\F
HK$'000
TAET

220,742
2,082
10,615

233,439

(147,053)

86,386

FRAEXREZEERANAAGERE
ERXZERELELER(ZTEN

2008
—EENF
HK$'000
TET

14,997
61

(3,721)
56,689

68,026

SEZABDREEFNBELN S
BT BABRIE - A EEE
BIARERE SR 2RV EFHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminueD)
PRC

The subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemption from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from their
respective first profit-making year, followed by a 50% relief for

the three years thereafter (“Tax Holiday"”).

All the Group’s PRC subsidiaries were within the tax exemption
period during the year ended 31 March 2009 and were
therefore not subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year,

except the following:

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Guangdong Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Guangdong Lee & Man")
expired on 31 December 2008 and its applicable preferential
tax rate is 12.5% for the period from 1 January 2009 to 31
December 2011. Beside, pursuant to approvals granted by the
PRC tax authority, Guangdong Lee & Man was granted tax
credits that resulted from the purchase of plant and equipment
manufactured in the PRC by Guangdong Lee & Man. Current
year's tax charge of Guangdong Lee & Man was fully offset by

such credits.

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Jiangsu Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Company Limited (“Jiangsu Lee & Man")
expired on 31 December 2006 and it is subject to a reduced tax
rate of 9% and 10% for the calendar years of 2008 and 2009,

respectively.

The Tax Holiday of a subsidiary, Dongguan Lee & Man expired
on 31 December 2005 and it is subject to a preferential tax rate
of 18% and 20% for the calendar years of 2008 and 2009
respectively. Based on the Guofa [2007] No. 39 released by the
State Council of the PRC, Dongguan Lee & Man is entitled to
such preferential treatment as its investment exceeds
US$30,000,000 with a long position of recovering investment.

MEBMA (&)
HE

MNRFEOMEARRES & @
MERE  REUTBEEEMESHM
FoER=F+R(HEEE]) -

BE_ZTAF=-_A=1T—HLHF
BA - AEBEBROT BEKERR
Be2MERREHR el RitHA
BAPBEREMER - BRTIIBISN

MBARERBXEMREGER QA
(TEREX]) zHEHRRHMER =
EENF+_A=+—HBE®R M
EHH—_ZTTZNF-A—HE_FT—
— S+ A=+—HHHEzERE
B ER125% © o RIEBEFE
MEHEIHE BEREXERBE
PRI E RS M REERT AL
e BREXRAFEAEHATR
ERZEFREAR R 2R -

MBARIIHEXERBR A A
(DIgEX ) 2HERPHER
TEXE+-_A=t+—HE® M
ER BT N\FER_ETENEFE
5 B3R B e B K 9% M 10% 8 -

MBARREEXHEEZHEN
—EERF+_A=+—RHE®m"
MARZZEZN \R_ZEZNEEFED

Pl 18 H B R18% M 20% B Fi - 1R
& B B 7% B BT AE B UK [2007] 39
B ARREEXZEEBR=T
BEnL AKEREBRE  WMHE
EREZBEZVBES -
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B35 AR B R (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

82

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminueD)
PRC (Continued)

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the PRC
on Enterprise Income Tax (the “Tax Law”) by Order No. 63 of
the President of the PRC. On 6 December 2007, the State
Council of the PRC issued Implementation Regulations of the
Tax Law. The Tax Law and Implementation Regulations increase
the tax rate for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to 25% with effect
from the expiry of the Tax Holiday and in the case of Jiangsu
Lee & Man and Dongguan Lee & Man, they are on a
progressive basis over a period of five years.

Malaysia

The subsidiary in Malaysia carries on offshore trading activities
in Labuan, with other group companies which are non-
residents of Malaysia. As such, it is qualified as an offshore
trading company in Labuan and is charged at a fixed annual
rate of Malaysian RM20,000.

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

United States

The subsidiary in the United States is subject to Federal Income
Tax and California State Income Tax (collectively refer to as “US
Income Tax"”) at rates of 35% and 8.84%, respectively. No
provision for US Income Tax has been made for the year.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 25%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for the year as

the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for the year.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2008/09 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_-ZFEAF=F=+—HILFF

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuED) 8. F

The income tax expense can be reconciled to the profit before kS

tax per the consolidated income statement as follows:

BERAx (&)

BRI

2009
—EZAF
HK$'000
FTHExT
Profit before tax R B8 AT & R 337,470
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 20%  ¥ZE A K20% (ZBZ )\ 4 -
(2008: 18%) (note i) 18% ) st & ey B 18 (M i) 67,494
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ A F =% H Fl 75 B2 2
for tax purpose 53,521
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBOBANRGEZE
for tax purpose (30,091)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised EEEE RIS 1B W B TS o 2 95,200
Effect of tax exemption granted ETHEBARERCHEHATE
to certain subsidiaries (120,912)
Effect of different tax rates of ETREEEEREEN
subsidiaries operating in other MEBAREATRMRER
jurisdictions -2 (4,562)
Deferred tax on PRC dividend FEAR ST FT ST 2 BRI IR

withholding tax
Tax credits granted to PRC subsidiaries
(note ii)

Overprovision in previous year

4,145
BRYTEMBARZHEE R
GED)

(27.684)
EFRERE —

Income tax expense

FMZHF X

notes:

(i) The domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a substantial (i)
portion of the Group’s operation is based is used.

(ii) Tax credits resulted from the purchase of plant and equipment (ii)
manufactured in the PRC by certain subsidiaries of the Company in the

PRC.

G

BMEL -

EERBR AR

ERBAEEBALH
SERE 2 BB -

SHAXERBEREERNANY

2008
—EENF
HK$'000
FHET

1,499,146

269,846

53,694

(18,772)
31,639

(215,473)

(594)

(48,593)
(3,721)

68,026

EBREZ A

BBEEDAARBURTEZET
MEBARBEATEREZIHERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FEEA

2009 2008
—ezhs [
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin THT

Profit for the year has been arrived at 4 & )& I &k -
after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (note 10) BRI (FMIsE10) 9,022 8,265
Staff salaries and other benefits, BETIHa RAMER -

excluding those of directors TEIEES 360,811 314,612
Share-based payments, INRESZIHRIE - TRIEES

excluding those of directors 4,800 8,224
Contributions to retirement benefit RAKBAGTERR  TREES

schemes, excluding those of directors 17,045 14,070
Total employee benefit expense B IRk A% 391,678 345,171
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments & {5 18 & 5% 18 £ 5 21,590 19,139
Auditors’ remuneration % 35 B B 3,752 2,953
Cost of inventories recognised FERAERAI L (1)

as expenses (note) 8,606,348 6,843,488
Depreciation of property, plant and WE  BEMKEBITE

equipment 405,571 268,086
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEWE BE X

equipment RBEENEE 8,293 166
Operating lease rentals in respect THREFHNEEHERS

of land and buildings 6,768 8,535
note: Included in cost of sales is a write-down of inventories amounting to 7 HEKARE 5 A42,0000008 T (ZF

HK$42,000,000 (2008: nil). TNF B 2FEMRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS 0. EME

EESINHEMNBIONES(ZZ
ZNF )BT ¢

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2008:
nine) directors were as follows:

Other emoluments

Hiti <
Contributions
Salaries and to retirement
other benefits benefit schemes Share-based

Fees FeR BIREF payments Total
we Hib @ Fl sTEIfR MRRE X T RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET FHET FHET

Year ended 31 March 2009

Executive directors

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Lee Man Chun Raymond
Lee Man Bun

Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director
Poon Chung Kwong

Independent non-executive
directors

Wong Kai Tung Tony

Peter A Davies (note i)

Chau Shing Yim David (note ii)

Heng Kwoo Seng (note iii)

—EEhE=A
=t-BZHEE

HiTEF

FER

FAE

3R

FiR@

FNTEF
AR

BUFNGTEF

FER

Peter A Davies (¥f 5%i)

B EK (K i)
Tz & (M &Eii)

Law Kar Shui Elizabeth (note iv) BEEE(MEiv)
Year ended 31 March 2008 —EENEZ=R
=+—HZFE
Executive directors HITEFE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick FiEo — — — — —
Lee Man Chun Raymond E4 — 2,800 12 969 3,781
Lee Man Bun 3@ — 1,727 12 591 2,330
Tan Siak Him Alexander (note v) B S (Ffstv) - — — - -
Li King Wai Ross T — 840 12 156 1,008
Non-executive director FHITEE
Poon Chung Kwong ERN — — — 946 946
Independent non-executive BUHNITEF
directors

Wong Kai Tung Tony FTER 80 — — — 80
Heng Kwoo Seng (note iii) Tz & (M=t iii) 120 — — — 120
Law Kar Shui Elizabeth (note iv) ‘(M) — — — — -

200 5,367 36 2,662 8,265
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS (conTivuED) 10. EEME (2)

For the two years ended 31 March 2009, no emoluments were HE_ZTZNF=-A=1+—HBHZW

paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or FAAEEBTEZNEAMNES T

upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office. EFoFHEMANSKMAEERE L

None of the directors has waived any emoluments during the ERREERNEZME - EMF

two years. NEEREEHEMNS -

notes: Bt 5

i) Mr Peter A Davies was appointed on 21 July 2008. 0] Peter A Davies St AR —ZZNF LA =
+—BZfF-

(i) Mr Chau Sing Yim David was appointed on 1 October 2008. (ii) BAARTER-_ZTENF+A—BE
RE-

(i) Mr Heng Kwoo Seng resigned on 30 April 2008. iy ThHELEERZ_ZZNFOA=+
HEHT -

(iv)  Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth resigned on 1 January 2009. vy BEEBNMIER-ZEZTAFE—-—HF—H
BT o

(v MrTan Siak Him Alexander resigned on 1 September 2007. v MRBEEBALECR-_ZFTLFAA—A
BT -

11. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 1. EEME

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEZaEMEzsAUAT - Ef

Group, three (2008: two) were directors of the Company “N(ZEZENF: M) AEXA

whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10 above. The AIESMEMNS SR LM 105

emoluments of the remaining two (2008: three) individuals EoEBMUAT(ZEZENF : =

were as follows: i) 2ME T :

2009 2008
=X —TT)\F
HK$°000 HK$"000
TER TAET

Salaries and other benefits FekHEMmET 4,120 4,923
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes iR K& F| 5t 2] 7 24 36
Share-based payments g ANEN = 312

5,271
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

11. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (conTinueD) 1. EEME (&)
The emoluments were within the following bands: BN T THAER
Number

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T —1,500,0005% 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T, 2,000,000 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T 2,500,000 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 % 7T, 3,000,000 7T

12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2008
—zznr [JEEEYE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution: 7] Z E DB 0T -
2008 final dividend of HK$0.10 ZEZ N\FRERARE
(2008: 2007 final dividend of FROI0OET(ZFTT/N\F -
HK$0.20) per share “EEHFREARKE 0208 7T) 113,738 227,316
2009 interim dividend of HK$0.05 ~ —Z = f1.4F J& % b HIAZ &
(2008: 2008 interim dividend of FRO0SET(ZTZNF
HK$0.16) per share ZEENFHHRE016ETT) 56,869 181,917
170,607 409,233
No final dividend was proposed for the year ended 31 March HE_ZZNF=RA=+—B1x
2009, nor has any dividend been proposed since the balance BEEAEEEFSITEZIRN R
sheet date (2008: 2008 final dividend of HK$0.10 per share BRE(ZZEZENF : BE_ZTN\F
proposed). RERPZ 201078 7L) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on

the following data:

13. BRER

FARAEGERHEANERERR
BERN AT BIR R ELEAE

Earnings for the purpose of
basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares:
Interest on convertible bonds
Gain from fair value change of
derivative embedded in the

convertible bonds

Earnings for the purpose of

diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares:

Share options
Convertible bonds

2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
RAUFTFESREAXTBFHZF
302,117 1,441,329
TEREENEETE
ABmRESFE 2,082
ARKRESRNETETA
AT ERSTHELNB 5
3)
AU ESREERT N &R
302,117 1,443,408
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
Number of Number of
Shares Shares
B3 E B f&% 15 2k B
RAUNGFEEREXRZFH
L5 A N RE &L
1,137,380,412 1,132,949,789
LRk BTEErE
5 M v 2,655,629
B ES 3,949,263

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose of

diluted earnings per share

R HE 5 i #E & F 0
TR A N 15 £

1,137,380,412

1,139,554,681

88 Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2008/09 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z—=—ZZ

NEF=ZA=1—HIEFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (conTivuep)

14.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2009 does not assume the exercise of the
Group's outstanding share options as the exercise prices of
those options are higher than the average market price.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. BRER (&)

BE_ZZANF=RA=+—HIF
BEz8BREERNAELEME
BmARITREZERESETE
RZBREZITEELMSFAE
AR -

14 W% - BERRKRE

Furniture
fixturesand  Leasehold
Freehold equipment improve- Plant and
Land Construction ~ Computer . ments Motor  machinery
LKA%E  Buildings  inprogress System  ETEE  HENE vehides BER Total
BEziH 1 ERIR EEZH EL £% RE #a -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TiEn FiEn TR TiEn TiEn FiEn TR
cosT A
At 1 April 2007 “ZTtENA-H 10,309 984,800 730,714 14,853 43874 202,520 30,755 4,004,141 6,021,966
Exchange realignment EREHAA — 83,703 56,688 — 3,108 16,885 1,763 344,044 506,191
Additions AE — 60,081 3,559,577 - 15,721 14,344 9,792 658,788 4,318,303
Transfers EF — 361,251 (2,236,184) 4,085 4,347 95,354 2,288 1,768,859 -
Disposals HE - — — - (342) - — (161) (503)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - (10,546) - (3103) - (5,025) (3534 (2209
At 31 March 2008 ZEENE
ZA=t+-H 10309 1,489,835 2,100,249 18,938 63,605 329,103 39,573 6,772,137 10,823,749
Exchange realignment EREHES - 82,885 101,864 - 3,158 18413 1,774 380,170 588,264
Additions RE — 124,798 1,913,479 3,040 3417 8,547 3,267 332,294 2,458 842
Transfers 25 . 645,291 (2,427,616) — 14,451 34,763 e 1,733,111 —
Disposalsiwritten off e/ HE - — (7,906) - (251) - (297)  (154625) (163,079
Disposal of subsidiaries LEHBAR (10,309) (18,667) (95,607) — (2,489) (6,114) (1,241) (102,684) (237,111)
At 31 March 2009 ZEENE
ZA=Zf-8 — 2324142 1,584,463 21,978 151,891 384,712 43,076 8,960,403 13,470,665
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 April 2007 “ZTLEmA-H — 116,860 — 1,609 15,077 17,718 12,836 333,246 497,346
Exchange realignment EREFAA — 12679 — — 1277 2137 988 37,112 54,193
Provided for the year ENEE - 53,160 - 1485 8577 14,531 5558 184775 268,086
Eliminated on disposals HER - - — — (235) — — (36) (271)
Eliminated on disposal of HERHB AR
subsidiaries — — — — (223) — (520) (326) (1,009)
At 31 March 2008 ZTT)\&
ZA=t- - 182,699 — 3,09 24,473 34,386 18,862 554,771 818,285
Exchange realignment EREHMEA - 11,428 - - 1,284 2,079 847 34018 49,65
Provided for the year FREE — 86,945 — 2,129 18,189 20,925 6,336 271,047 405,571
Eliminated on disposals HERHE - - - - (172) — (267) (169) (608)
Eliminated on disposal of HEN B Al
subsidiaries - (1,422) — — (1,691) (987) (425) (20,584) (25,109)
At 31 March 2009 —EENE
ZA=t-H - 279,650 — 5223 42,083 56,403 25,353 839,083 1,247,795
CARRYING VALUES RHE
At 31 March 2009 ZEENE
“A=1+-8 —  2,044492 1,584,463 16,755 109,808 328,309 17,723 8121320 12,222,870
At31 March 2008 3 J1N:3
I = 10,309 1,307,136 2,100,249 15,844 39,132 294,717 20,711 6,217,366 10,005,464
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (conTinuED)

90

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment other than freehold land and construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Computer System 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

Leasehold improvements 5%-15%
Motor vehicles 20%
Plant and machinery 3'5%-20%
Freehold land is not depreciated.

The carrying values of land and buildings of the Group
comprises:

14. Y% BERREE &)

BRokAZXEL R ERZITREIN
ME - BEMREBRBEFNKEER
& RIE A AFMAERATIR
PrEAMEEMA - FRMT -

gF 5%
B 10%
R BEREREE 20%
HEWMEEE 5%-15%
B 20%
[ 5 N i 28 35%-20%

K AERIE 2 T TERE -

AEEz D MEEYERER

Freehold land in the United States

of America
Buildings on freehold land in the REB KA E
United States of America FAE M FrEF

Buildings on lands under medium-term AR E A —IEF EAE S H L

lease in the PRC L FEF

REBZ K AEERTA T

2009 2008
23 TT)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER TAET
10,309

17,250

2,044,492 1,289,886
2,044,492 1,317,445

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC
with respect to which the Group has not been granted formal
title of ownership. At 31 March 2009, the carrying value of
such buildings amounted to HK$1,181,583,000 (2008:
HK$370,501,000). In the opinion of directors, the absence of
formal title to these buildings does not impair the value of the
relevant buildings of the Group. The directors also believe that
formal title of these buildings will be granted to the Group in
due course.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 15. FE{SHEHERIE
The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands AGEEBRMNEERREETHRHELY
held under medium-term leases located in: Tz tHEELR

2009 2008

S LIEN ==\«
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T

PRC H 311,984 304,926
Vietnam i 38,547 35,824

350,531 340,750

2009 2008
2 TT)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER TAET

Analysed for reporting purposes as: WERBRMIEZ DT
Non-current asset ERBEE 336,513 323,705
Current asset MENEE 14,018 17,045

350,531 340,750

As at 31 March 2009, the carrying value of land use rights in RZEZNF=A=+—H &
respect of which the Group had not been granted formal title YRR TFERAGEAEZ LH0EBRE
of ownership amounted to approximately HK$171,522,000 2 MR TE B %) /171,522,000 7% 7T (=
(2008: HK$164,622,000). In the opinion of the directors, the TT/\F + 164622000/87L) - EH

RARRZFETHEREEAER
RYTEEZSEHREMEEE-
EETHEETABKREERSRT
SELHERRIABARE -

absence of formal title to these land use rights does not impair
the value of the relevant properties to the Group. The directors
also believe that formal title to these land use rights will be

granted to the Group in due course.
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16. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 16. BEWX* BERRERT
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND i fE AR ET &
LAND USE RIGHTS
The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the il erAEBRTHEERE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use MEENYE BELEZERLH
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments TREN 2 BEVE BEXR
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use AR THERAENEBERESD
rights are disclosed in note 36. BIRART FE36 & -

17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. REtERFl 2 s

2009 2008
2 TT)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TET

Cost of unlisted investment FEETIREKA L 1
Share of post-acquisition results FEME U B 12 45 (1) (1

Details of the Group’s associate at 31 March 2009 and 31 =t+—BRERZZE
March 2008 are as follows: AREERRZ A
Effective
interest in the
issued share
Place of Issued and capital held
Form of Incorporation fully paid indirectly
Name of business and operations share capital BiEES
associate structure RIK ERTR B #{TRA  Principal Activity
BE AR AR XBEBREX EEMH BRBRA BERAE TEEDH
Fortune Sight Group  Incorporated British Virgin Ordinary shares  19% (note ) Investment holding in a
Limited (“FSGL")  BX3Z Islands — US$1,000 PRC subsidiary engaging
EBELEE Bk in prdoucing raw materials
— 1,000% 7T for manufacturing of
paper and pulp
FENBRRRERE
ERAR - FERE
A A DA BE AR OR 2
R R R
note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over FSGL because it i AEBEFGLEHEZEN  BRAE
has the power to appoint one out of the three directors of that company. BEREEZAZAG ZNEEPH L
E=E-
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17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (conTinueD) 17. REFER R 2R (#)

The summarised consolidated financial information of FSGL is FSGLMER A BER BTN T ¢

set out below:

2009 2008

S LIEN ==\«
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T

Total assets EEE 812,708 686,920
Total liabilities BEIE (857,307) (702,804)

Net liabilities FaE (44,599) (15,884)

The Group’s share of net liabilities of 7<% B fE(5FSGLIF & &

FSGL —
Revenue PN —
Losses for the year NFEIE (23,053)
The Group’s share of losses of REFEREEEIGFSGLE B

FSGL for the year M
The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses in A AN & B PAFSGLE) 25T E 1L B 18
FSGL because its cumulative share of losses in FSGL has EREEKRERE  HAEEEK
exceeded its investment cost. The Group will not resume IFFERE FE(RFSGLE 18 » ANk E 5
recognition of its share of any future profits in FSGL until its & B 17 i R E & 15 #FSGLIE fa] B
share of such profits equals the share of losses not recognised. BEN BEEHEEEZZERTE

EFRHRERNEBEBEE/L -
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17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (conTiNnUED) 17. REEERTR 2Esm (&)
The amounts of unrecognised share of losses in FSGL, extracted 8RR E (L FSGLE 58 (M sk B
from the relevant unaudited management accounts of FSGL, MHBFSGLARK EZERERR - 825
both for the year and cumulatively from the date that FSGL NEE R BFSGLK AR &S B & R
became an associate of the Group, are as follows: AR HREMEFHE) LT
2009 2008
it LK — T T )\ F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Unrecognised share of losses of AR AR MR RS
FSGL for the year FSGLE 18 (5,311) (1,870)
Accumulated unrecognised share of Bt AR TEREN
losses of FSGL FSGLES B (1,870)
18. INVENTORIES 18. B&
2009 2008
t- L PR — T T )\ F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Raw materials FEH 1,156,853 2,131,577
Finished goods 2R 0 479,065 367,590

1,635,918 2,499,167
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. ERE 5 REMIERMR

2009 2008

TEEAF i

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THET

Trade receivables TEWE SR 1,080,864 1,708,040
Bills receivables A EE N 306,648 526,742

t

1,387,512 2,234,782
Deposits and prepayments & RIEARIE 285,072 199,017
Deferred consideration receivables for  FEUL H & [ B A FlELE R (E

disposal of subsidiaries 118,135 —
Other receivables H b fE U F0E 356,160 294,088

2,146,879 2,727,887

The Group generally allows an average credit period from 60 to AEE-—RETEPHTHEEDN
90 days to its customers. An ageing analysis of the trade and R60HZENRH - EWESEFREE
bills receivables is as follows: HEBRR AT T -

2009 2008
—EThF YN
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT

Aged: BRI
Less than 30 days L 30H 990,808 1,257,486
31-60 days 31H-60H 316,046 545,117
61-90 days 61H-90H 54,140 286,433
91-120 days 91H-120H 13,779 73,753
Over 120 days 1208 A £ 12,739 71,993

1,387,512 2,234,782
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTiNuED)

96

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits.
Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory
trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers
are reviewed regularly. The directors considered all trade
receivables at the balance sheet date are of good credit quality
with reference to the track records of these customers under

internal assessment by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$26,518,000 (2008:
HK$145,746,000) which were past due at the balance sheet
date but for which the Group has not provided for impairment
loss as the Group considered such balances could be recovered
based on historical experience. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. The Group takes into
consideration the estimated cash flows when determining

evidence of impairment loss.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due
but not impaired

19.

FEWE 5 R E 8RR ()

AEBREREFRFESA - &&F
BHEBEEFPNEEEERATH
FERE - FEHESRETEER
EHRRENEF - EFEERBETE
HIF AR AT o A S B A BT
T REZFEFMERALE &
ERRERERMEREKE SRR
VERBRFEEEE -

AEBERKBEIEREHRTRIEL
8 M & 426,518,000/ T ( ZZ T )\
£ 1 145,746,000 7T ) &I FEUCE 5 BR
FoRERERLEERE SR
HEAEERABBERATLR  %F
EERTET T LAURE - B R IR R
BEERE AEBUYERZERE
BP/FETWERD - AEERET
BEEBERERDGTRMEFRER

=
=

B EEARRENERE SR
fY AR R

91H-120H
120H KA £

91-120 days
Over 120 days

2009 2008
SLIEN — ==\«
HK$'000 HK$'000
F# T
13,779 73,753
12,739 71,993
26,518 145,746

No allowance for doubtful receivables has been recognised for
both years as the directors considered these trade receivables
balances could be recovered based on historical experience.
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19.

20.

21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueD)

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entitles
are set out below:

19

FEUWRE 5 K H MR (&)

VHNEAEEERIEEEHE
MEWE 5 R EMRKNT

Renminbi (“RMB")
United States dollars ("US$")
Euro (“EUR")

AR ("RMB”)
ZET("US$")
BX 7T (“EUR™)

2009 2008

S LIEN =)\
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT
371,830 868,970
166,298 390,477

49 3,637

AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

The amounts represent non-trade balances due from FSGL and
its subsidiary. The amounts are unsecured, repayable on
demand and bear interest at 6.50% (2008: nil) per annum. In
the opinion of the directors, the amounts are expected to be

repaid within one year from the balance sheet date.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

The amounts represent trading balances due from Lee & Man
Industrial Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing”) and Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited
("Jiangsu Chemical”) which are beneficially owned by Mr. Lee
Wan Keung, Patrick, a director of the Company.

The amounts are unsecured and interest-free. The Group
generally allows an average credit period of 30 days to related
companies and the amounts for both years were aged less than
30 days. As at the respective balance sheet dates, the balances
were neither impaired nor past due.

20.

21.

FE U B & 1 B KR

%R IRHE B WFSGLE B I B 1 B Y
FEHER R EREER A
JEERERERILFNE650E (= F
ENF E)AR -EERE KA
FEAIRNEER R —FREER -

EWREE QR FKIE

£ B 3 B Rlee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing Limited ([ 3 XX & % )
RI#EX /L ITHARRR ([T
THWEBESHES MEQAFTNER
FAEARKRRRIEEFERLE -

REARBERALENS - AEE—
RETIOREEREAEHEERR
ZHRIAEEMFORE PN0A -
REFER - SR ERESAD -
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22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 22. BERHBITERRRITEER

BALANCES AND CASH

The restricted bank deposits of HK$1,908,000 (2008:
HK$489,000) represent monies secured by the PRC government
for certain commercial purposes which security period will
expire within one year from the balance sheet date and are
therefore classified as current assets.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

The restricted bank deposits carried market interest rate of
0.36% (2008: 0.72%) per annum. Bank balances carried
market interest rates ranging from 0.36% to 2.20% (2008:
3.30% to 4.45%) per annum.

Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set

SEN

7% 19080008 T ( ZF T )\ F -
489,00078 7T ) Z A BRI $R 17 17 3 35
RETEHFXBOMN T HEBA
W7 RAERTTP OMRIE - % F
EHEaEE AR —FRNER
BREFRBCOBERRBDEE °

ROTEHRLBACERAKEREN
B kREIBAA/=EAHARND
REHIRITIE -

ERGBIBITERTEMSFEEX
036%( ZZFZF N\ F:072%)°
WITHBRTAEMISFEEH036%
£220%( =Z T T )\ F : 330% =
445%) o

VHNEAEEERUBEERE
MERITR BRI T -

2009 2008
SLIEN =)\
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT

out below:

RMB AR
uss$ =y
EUR & T
Great British Pound (“GBP") e
Japanese Yen (“JPY") Bt

280,778 68,373
154,482 92,328
49,001 47,991
64,306 13,966
13 12,280
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. BYE S REMIRRK

2009 2008
—zzhs [EEENE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Current i
Trade and bills payables JENE SRR ER 338,221 747,743
Accruals et & A 147,927 198,298
Other payables Ho{th JE T3R8 362,785 445,608
848,933 1,391,649

Non-current eI
Other payables H & < 5118 364,042 —

B2BEZFARKENMH30E60H
TE - BNERRRERZRE DN

The average credit period taken for trade purchases range from
30 to 60 days. An ageing analysis of the trade and bills

payables is as follows: UM
2009 2008
—EBEhE —ZEENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT

Aged: IRHER -

Less than 30 days DR30H 232,636 665,148
31-60 days 31H-60H 44,888 48,584
61-90 days 61H-90H 15,041 17,161
Over 90 days 90H A E 45,656 16,850
338,221 747,743

BIGERAR AR 2008/09 F3
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

23.

100

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conmivueD)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group agreed with
certain independent constructors to extend the repayment date
of the construction payables to two years from the original due
date without consideration. The amount was recognised at fair
value of HK$364,042,000 at the date of the settlement deed,
determined using cash flows discounted at an effective interest
rate of 3.9% per annum. The difference of HK$28,721,000
between the carrying value and the fair value of the
construction payables as at date of settlement deed was
capitalised to construction in progress. As 31 March 2009, such
construction payables were classified as non-current other
payables in the consolidated financial statements.

Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities
are set out below:

23.

BNEZRAEMIRK (&)

REE-_ZZhAhF=A=1+—H
EFE - AEBEEETFTHIEERY
MEEESENEEREZHEE
BHEREZRINPARTME - F
HeBERNBEZBEABH AT
B364,042,000 8 TR ALK - Z 2
BN EBRFEBRIOERBE R
BEEF - BNEERERBERE
BEEBMERAFERZEZS
287210008 TEE AL ATERET
B-R-—ZZAF=ZA=+—8"
ZENEERBEREEMBRRD
FERIEREEH M FER I o

RMB AR
us$ ETT
EUR BT
JPY At

BERAREZ RSN A%
B2 R 5 R EAERLT -
2009 2008
—zznr EEECE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH
494,051 523,202
143,516 182,227
30,121 33,223
4,137 85,681

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2008/09 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. RITRHEMEE

The Group’s bank and other borrowings which are unsecured EIKARITREMEESE

are comprised of:

2009 2008

—EZTAE YIS

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHE T

Bank loans |ITER 7,671,102 6,251,891
Bank import loans HRITHOERN 93,798 72,153

7,764,900 6,324,044
Notes payable ERE® 776,800 776,800

8,541,700 7,100,844

The bank and other borrowings RIT R E At (5 B /Y8 AP
are repayable as follows: mr
Within one year or on demand —FRNRFEEKEE 4,738,379 2,781,310
More than one year, but not BE—FEORWE
exceeding two years 1,184,152 370,000
More than two years, but not BEMTEIRAF
exceeding five years 1,842,369 3,172,734
More than five years HBlEAF 776,800 776,800
8,541,700 7,100,844
Less: Amount due within one year B AR ARBAERD
shown under current liabilities —F AR EBARIE (CFELFEVAN (2,781,310)
Amount due after one year —FE BB HAFIAE 3,803,321 4,319,534
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

24.

102

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (conmivueD)

The Group's bank and other borrowings include
HK$1,528,168,000 (2008: HK$776,800,000) fixed-rate
borrowings which carried interest rates ranging from
2.98% to 6.81% (2008: 6.43% to 6.81%) per annum and
HK$7,013,532,000 (2008: HK$6,324,044,000) variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest rates ranging from HIBOR plus
0.405% to HIBOR plus 3.50% (2008: ranging from HIBOR plus
0.405% to HIBOR plus 0.80%) per annum.

On 15 January 2008, the Company entered into an agreement
with independent third parties, pursuant to which, the
Company agreed to issue notes with an aggregate principal
amount of US$100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$776,800,000)
to these independent third parties. The notes comprised two
series, series A and series B, with an aggregate principal
amount of US$35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$271,880,000)
and US$65,000,000 (equivalent to HK$504,920,000),
respectively. Series A notes carry interest at a fixed-rate of
6.43% per annum and will mature on 15 January 2015,
whereas series B notes carry interest at a fixed rate of 6.81%

per annum and will mature on 15 January 2018.

The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank and other

borrowings are as follows:

24.

RITREMEES (&)

TEEBRTEREMAEEBSR
1,528,168,000 8 ;L ( = & T )\ 4 :
776,800,000 & 7T ) F B ¥2.98% =
681 %2 EEBE(ZZEENEFE : F
B R643%ZE6.81%) 5% 7,013,532,000
BIL(ZZZ)\F : 6,324,044,0008
TIZTERBE  FEXHET
FZE AN _F0.405% E3.50% F & (=
TNE @AM ENME0405%E
0.80% 1) »

REBYFEF=FEVEREES
CARBREBTAS
4 % /100,000,000 % jT( & ©
776,800,000 8 7T ) M EH T H L F
=FH  ERBEWME - AERBE
EBA 25 R A BEE 435000000
% 7t (48 & $271,880,000 7 7T ) &
65,000,000 7T ( #8 & $#2504,920,000
BIr) c ABEEIRIZE F E B643%
HE BR-E—HE—HRATEH
EE - BEEBZEF T E681%5
B BR=ZE—NF—A+HHBE
B o

AREBERTREMBEE 2 ERF X
wm

2008
—EENF

Fixed-rate borrowings FEEEE
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (conmivuepy 24, SRITR HAMtE & (&)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

BRERASEZNEEEIN K&
BRTEREMEEEEEENT ¢

2009 2008

S LIEN =)\
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT

RMB AR
Us$ ETT

721,840 139,826
821,576 836,725

During the year, the Group anticipated potential non-
compliance with certain financial covenants attached to certain
of the Group's borrowings in the aggregate amount of
approximately HK$4,732 million, primarily in relation to interest
coverage and gearing ratios as measured with reference to the
Group’s budgeted financial results and position for the year
ended 31 March 2009. The Group informed the relevant
lenders of these potential non-compliances and by 31 March
2009 obtained the consent from each of the relevant lenders
agreement to waive the potential breach as a result of such
potential non-compliance and also to amend the relevant
facilities with revised financial covenants, terms and/or
repayment schedule. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group does not anticipate potential non-
compliance with financial covenants within next twelve
months.

FA ANEEBEHTEREETE
T 7N & B 42 %8 494,732,000,000 % 7T
ZEBERMWE THBRE  ZEE
BEXrZEH2EBEZ_ZTNF=
A=+—BLEFEREEEEYB
XEMFECNEBEEXRREBEAL
o REBCMNEEBEBRAAZS
AREREEETH B R 2 EH - I
RZZEZAF=ZA=+—HACE
BESBHEMRIAMEZLRE  #R
B B B8 Al 82 R B8 38 <7 22 7 M Al g2
RZEREER  BEIRMENREBR
BREMEITTBEREL - ER Rk
BEERKEAEX ARAFEZEFERR &K
SEEARARRT-_BEATEEHE
ARERBEEBTHMBERHBELEEH °
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~ e RIS AR R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_-ZFEAF=F=+—HILFF

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

TR IA

Current Non-current
& ¥RE

2009 2008 2009 2008
SLEA - BELEN T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR F#T TR

Derivative financial liabilities $74 B & & &

— net settlement

Derivatives under hedge
accounting

Interest rate swaps (note i)

Cross currency interest
rate swaps (note ii)

—FBERW

BYETPETAEARZ
fTETH

) & 42 B0 (BT 3E0)

RNEMER == 58
(B &)

(78,807) (77,485)

(63,840)
(934) (955)

(45,492)

(122,977) (142,954)

(79,741) (64,795)

Other derivatives
(not under hedge
accounting)

Interest rate swaps (note iii)

Currency structured
instruments (note iv)

H#fiETA
(3 3E 32 ¥ b
SEEAR)

) 2= 45 B (T 3 i)

BEMEETA

(17,764) (14,022) (16,370) (19,353)

Derivative financial assets

— net settlement

Other derivatives
(not under hedge
accounting)
Interest rate swaps (note iii)
Currency structured
instruments (note iv)
Commodity swaps (note v)

(Bt 5Eiv) (349) (113,727)
(18,113) (16,370)
(97,854) (139,347) (162,307)
TETKEE
—FERW
HisT£T A
(3 I AR 5 4
2 EAR)

) 2 e 3 (B 22 il

REUEEETA
(B Eiv)

A e 4 (P REv)

283 3,656

4,781 20,707

5,064 25,224
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

The fair values of the above derivative finanical instruments are

calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the

applicable yield curves of interest rates and volatility of foreign

exchange rates as determined by the counterparties.

notes:

Interest rate swaps

The Group uses interest rate swaps to minimise its exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk of its variable-rate HK$ bank borrowings (see note 24) by
swapping a proportion of the variable-rate bank borrowings from variable
interest rates to fixed interest rates of 4.75% and 5.00%, and interest
rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%. The interest rate swaps and
the corresponding bank borrowings have the same terms and the
directors of the Company consider that the interest rate swaps are highly
effective hedging instruments. Major terms of the interest rate swaps for
the years ended 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008 are set out below:

Notional amount

Lt

25.

TTEMB TR (#)

PRI EMBTARAZ R TFETLRE
HFHTHBHEBER 2 F K RINE
MBEXRZERERE - RFHER
EMENMBELEFTE -

CEX
0

Interest rate swap

F==H

Fl &= 5 5

AEERAFIRIEH  BBELDF
BRITEEHRZEANRBEKE T F
R475% K.5.00% I # F) = TR ET R
465% * F E _E R AIFT550% * #5 1tt
REREKTFEBERTERMAELEZ
ReREFERER(RHFE24) o FIX
RERERE 2 RITEE G BRI
EERATEREHHERTHRZ LR
TA -BE-TTZAF=A=+—A1t
FEMN-_ZTEENFEFZA=1T—LtEFE
MR RN EBERETN AT ¢

2 contracts with HK$1,000,000,000 in total
2174 #)4£1,000,000,0007% 7T

1 contract with HK$1,000,000,000
117 & #71,000,000,0007%8 7T

The above contracts will mature within four years (2008: five years) from
the balance sheet date.

During the year, losses from fair value changes of HK$21,357,000 (2008:
HK$129,162,000) were deferred in equity and are expected to be released
to the consolidated income statement at various dates in line with the
interest and principal payments schedule of the corresponding bank
borrowings in the coming four years (2008: five years). The gains from fair
value changes of HK$5,957,000 (2008: losses from fair value change of
HK$11,730,000) were recognised in the consolidated income statement
as they represented the ineffective portion of the gains/losses on the
hedging instruments.

BIGERAR AR 2008/09 F3

From HIBOR to fixed rates of 4.75% and 5.00%
BEBRTREREEETE B4.75% %500%

From HIBOR to rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%
HmEBIRITAERBE ZEHKIK465% % & =550%

FRENFHEERREONERN(ZFF
NE : BF)FHE -

FN BAFEEHEELEZEHIE
21,357,000 # ( = & T )\ F:
129,162,000 7% 7T ) B P IR 2R 4 25 il
R EHERAROFE(ZZTE
NE: RF)RAMEERTEEZF
ERAEHIFERTRB THEHELLE
Kk AAFEHEHELENEZA
5957,0008 T (Z T T\ F : AAFE
) EEREIEA11,730,00087T) ¢ B
RZzE/s /BEEAERYFIAE
Mz B/ BIEBY  BRiRE WS
KPR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

notes: (Continued)

(ii) Cross currency interest rate swaps
At balance sheet date, the Group had the following cross currency interest
rate swaps designated as highly effective hedging instruments in order to
manage the Group’s foreign currency exposure in relation to the foreign
currency coupon and principal payments of its fixed-rate US$ notes
payable (see note 24). The terms of the cross currency interest rate swaps
were negotiated to match the terms of the corresponding notes payable.
Major terms of these contracts for the years ended 31 March 2009 and
31 March 2008 are as follows:

Notional amount

HMeEH

Currency swap

EWES

25.

G
(i)

TTEMB TR (#)

(&)

RXEWRREH

REER  AEEHRETIRIETAR
AP TAZ X NE I E i B E 2
REBEA BTSSR EER &2
NEARBZAEXNZERR (R
MiiE24) » R XEWE R K158 2 & H 7]
TEER UEAHEEENREZFH -
BE_ZTZAF=ZA=t—HLFE
R—BEENF=ZA=Z+-LFEZE
BRZEBEFROT

Interest rate swap

MEEH

2 contracts with US$100,000,000 in total

2173 A #7#£100,000,0003E 7T 213 A #91£776,800,00055 T

The above contracts will mature within six to nine years (2008: seven to
ten years) from the balance sheet date.

During the year, gains from fair value changes of HK$16,563,000 (2008:
losses from fair value changes of HK$53,905,000) were deferred in equity
and are expected to be released to the consolidated income statement at
various dates in line with the coupon and principal payments schedule of
the corresponding notes payable in the coming nine years (2008: ten
years). The remaining gains from fair value changes of HK$3,868,000
(2008: losses from fair value changes of HK$12,952,000) were recognised
in the consolidated income statement as they represented the ineffective
portion of the gains/losses on the hedging instruments.

(iii)  Interest rate swaps
Major terms of the interest rate swaps as at 31 March 2009 are as

follows:

Notional amount

BeEH MEEH

2 contracts with HK$776,800,000 in total

(iii)

Interest rate swap

From range of 6.43% to 6.81% to
range of 6.41% to 6.64%

H6.43% £681%HERNZE
6.41% % 6.64% & [E N

FRAHNKREERRESEAF(ZF
TNF LB F)RTE -

FN BAFEZHEELEZEIB
16,563,000 & t( = T T )\ F:
53,905,000 78 7T ) B 5 IR 7N # 25 R IR AT
RIE - BHERARAF(ZZZEN
Fo+F)REAMEEZENERRAS
SR TRB FEBLGE KEE - A
N E#B)E 4 B8R T 154 43,868,000
BLT(ZTENF - HRAFEEHELE
#0518 512,952,000/8 1) © RS
w=/BEAERERTAERZ G
BEEHD - ARG ERERPER -

R 25 1
RZZETZAF=ZR=+—HF ==
ZEBBRZRBINWOT

2 contracts with HK$700,000,000 in total
217 & #)3£700,000,0007% 7T

VARSI

From range of HIBOR to HIBOR plus 1.00% to range of 4.80% to
HIBOR (maximum at 7.00%)

HAEBRITRAEREERBRITEEIRENN1.00% 5 EREE
480% ZEEBBRITAER L (HSEE7.00%) #EHE A

Major terms of these contracts as at 31 March 2008 were as follows:

Notional amount

BeEH R %12

Interest rate swap

RZBEZENF=ZRA=+—HZFED
ZEBEHREINMT

3 contracts with HK$900,000,000 in total
315 & #93£900,000,0007% 7T

From range of HIBOR to HIBOR plus 1.00% to range of 4.80% to
HIBOR (maximum at 7.00%)

HEBRITRAEREERBRITEERENN1.00% 50 EREE
480% ZEEHBRITAERL (HSFE7.00%) &EHE A

The above contracts will mature within one to two years (2008: one to
three years) from the balance sheet date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

notes: (Continued)
(iv)  Currency structured instruments
(@) Foreign currency forward contracts

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts as at 31

March 2009 are as follows:

Notional amount

25. FTHEMBE TR (&)

BisE : (4)
(iv) #HBUEEWIA
@  SMNEEHAEK

Currency conversion

BERER

R-BZNF=ZA=+—BH%E
EHEH EBER

HIWT -

9 contracts to buy US$37,000,000 in total
919 & #)#£ & 37,000,000 7T

3 contract to buy EUR10,000,000 in total
3194 #)#£ & 10,000,000 8% 7T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts as at 31

March 2008 were as follows:

Notional amount

]

US$1: HK$7.6980 to 7.7486
135 70 H,7.6980 % 7.7486 8 7T

EUR1: US$1.2578 to 1.3350
1BER7T 3 1.2578 & 13350 7T

Currency conversion

BRER

RECBBENF=ZA=+—BHE
EHEN I EEEGR

HIT -

20 contracts to buy US$102,000,000 in total
2019 & #7 E 102,000,000 7T

10 contracts to buy US$16,000,000 in total
1017 & %)L & 16,000,000 7T

6 contracts to sell GBP3,700,000 in total
617 & #) £ ¥3,700,000 % &%

4 contracts to buy GBP1,100,000 in total
417 & #) 4 51,100,000 % £

1 contract to buy EUR2,000,000 in total
119 & #)#£ B 2,000,000 81 7T

US$1: HK$7.6670 to 7.7789
1€ TR 7.6670%7.7789 78 7T

US$1: RMB7.2739 to 7.5240
13EIL R 72739275240 AR E

GBP1: US$2.0022 to 2.0450
1385 5,2.0022 2 2.0450 3% 7T

GBP1: US$1.8760 to 1.9780
1385 5,1.8760 2 1.9780% 7T

EURT: US$1.3530
1B T 5135305 7T

(b)

The above contracts will mature within one to two months (2008:
one to twelve months) from the balance sheet date.

LIBOR range subsidised forward contracts

The Group entered into two LIBOR range subsidised rate foreign
currency forward contracts during the year with maturity dates of
2 May 2008 and 9 October 2008 respectively. Their major terms
were as follows:

Nominal amount
2 contracts with US$10,000,000 in total

Payment currency amount
At each settlement date, the Group paid the notional amounts at

one plus the number of days within the transaction period (the
period from the prior settlement date to the next settlement date)
upon which LIBOR below the interest rates ranging from 3.50%
t0 3.93%, divided by the total number of calendar days within the
transaction period.

(b)

btAaHEmEEAR—M@EA
EMEA(ZZZENF: —=+
—fEA)REIE -

fm B0 ER 77 6] 2 97 2 [ fA] Bl 7K A&
BaEh
FEBRARFERT MG fBHR
TR 297 B B B K SN B IR )
a8 AR _FTENFRAZ
AE-ZZENETAAREE -
HEBHFOT -

HEE
2134 #4934 5H10,000,000% 7T

INEESE
REHEER  AEEXHEE
T ZSEE-NXRZH (L
—HERETHEAHE)RN
fa R 1T R E 7 SR 3.50% 2
39B3%EEHHEE - KIUAXHH
NEBAHTE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)  25. ST B # T A (4#)

notes: (Continued) WaE : (48)
(iv)  Currency structured instruments (Continued) (iv) HBHEE¥WIAE)
(b)  LIBOR range subsidised forward contracts (Continued) (b) fia X8R 77 [ 3 #F B = B Bh Ak iR
HEK ()
Receipt currency amount KBEESE
At each settlement date, the Group received the notional amounts REFER  XEBBKRDRER
at subsidised forward rates ranging from 7.51 to 7.55, divided by SR ZLFERISIEISSTE
the amount of RMB that required to buy one US$ as displayed on HBRKGEHAR R - BRIA B LR
Reuter Page at 9:15 a.m. Beijing time on two business days prior TEORBHBEMTEE —
to the settlement date. ETHENAREKSEASE -
HUAEAMESZEANIL
RERALE -
Both contracts matured and were settled during the year ended MNEHIRBE_ZTZNF=A
31 March 2009. ST -BUEFERATBRIA -
(v)  Commodity swaps vy EmREH
Major terms of the commodity swaps as at 31 Mrach 2008 were as R-ZTEENF=ZA=+—HEREH
follows: ZEZEZRBINMAT
Notional quantity Commodity Swap
BeyE Gl F 2 EH
2 contracts with 6,000 metric tonnes in total Pulp From monthly average market price to a range of US$865 to
217 & #93£6,000 2 WA N US$870 per metric tonne

HEATHTEEEEGAMESE5XTES70E THE R

The above contracts matured and were settled during the year ended 31 FREHNRBE_TETNAF=A=+
March 2009. —BIEFERBH RIS -

Derviative financial instruments that are denominated in currencies other NIEREEZEREESE AIINEEE
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out BZTEMBITARINMT ¢

below:

108

2009 2008
—zzns [EEEENES
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Derivative financial assets PTEMBEE
us$ EP 18,791
EUR BR T 1,236
GBP S 680
Derivative financial liabilities PTEMBAR
us$ E 46,426 179,258
EUR BT 349 —
GBP HEgE — 1,326
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZE

26. DEFERRED TAX 26. IEFERL IR

TEATEEEHEREREER
RREERERBEREBNZE

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movement thereon during the current and prior

reporting periods.

& o

Undistributed
earnings
Accelerated of PRC
tax subsidiaries
depreciation HEIHE AT Tax losses Total
EEHRBERE AoBEZAEBE BEESR Eo
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TR
At 1 April 2007 —EE+LFMOA—H 46,932 — (31,707) 15,225
Exchange realignment EREHEE 6,760 — — 6,760
Charge to consolidated  F WA 4R & Uk 25 BR #1 %
income statement
for the year 54,778 — 1,911 56,689
At 31 March 2008 —TTN\F
ZA=+—H 108,470 — (29,796) 78,674
Exchange realignment EREHEE 7,524 — — 7,524
Disposal of a subsidiary & —E B A 7 — — 42,161 42,161
Charge (credit) to FRREE W
consolidated income ik (FFA)
statement for the year 92,440 4,145 (67,365) 29,220
At 31 March 2009 —EEN=ZA=+—H 208,434 4,145 (55,000) 157,579
EUEMAR AR 2008/09 £3% 109
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZE

26.

110

DEFERRED TAX (conTINUED)

For the purpose of balance sheet presentation, certain deferred
tax liabilities and assets have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:

IEFERLTE (4)
ARFAEABR2®KAN AT

EREHRBERBEREECERE - TX
RRERBERE RN ZRTEHIALS
RO -

Deferred tax liabilities BIEFRIBAE
Deferred tax assets EIEFRIBE E

2009 2008
IS —TT\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TAET
212,579 108,470
(55,000) (29,796)
157,579 78,674

At 31 March 2009, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$594,000,000 (2008: HK$259,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$261,000,000 (2008: HK$99,000,000) of such losses. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised for the remaining losses
of approximately HK$333,000,000 (2008: HK$160,000,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. During the
year ended 31 March 2009, included in the above unused tax
losses, amount of HK$141,000,000 was reversed upon disposal
of subsidiaries. At 31 March 2009, HK$262,000,000 (2008:
HK$127,000,000) can be carried forward for five years
following the loss year. The other tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

According to the Tax Law, starting from 1 January 2008, 10%
withholding income tax will be imposed on dividends relating
to profits earned in the calendar year 2008 onwards to foreign
investors for the companies established in the PRC. For
investors incorporated in Hong Kong and holds at least 25% of
equity interest of PRC company, preferential rate of 5% will be
applied. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with undistributed earnings of PRC subsidiaries for
which deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements was HK$4,145,000 (2008:
Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

3R AR 48 R 5T &
REBEEMRNTE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees @

Defined benefit plan

The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan which
was open to qualified employees of the Group’s Hong
Kong subsidiary, the plan is managed by Fortune Star
Tradings Ltd (“Fortune Star”). Fortune Star is beneficially
owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director of the
Company. In December 2000, all the existing members of
the defined benefit plan were enrolled into a MPF
Scheme and their accrued benefits for the past services
under the defined benefit plan were frozen as at 30
November 2000. The defined benefit plan was closed to

new employees from December 2000 onwards.

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled to
retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100% of
their final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by
the pensionable service year up to 30 November 2000 on
attainment of a retirement age of 55. No other post-
retirement benefits are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the defined
benefits plan assets and the present value of the defined
benefit obligation was carried out at 31 December 2008
by HSBC Life (International) Limited. The present values
of the defined benefit obligation, the related current
service cost and past service cost were measured using
the projected unit credit method.

FE R G 8

AREBR —ERTEMNTE
K AKX B + #% & 8l ftFortune Star

Trading Ltd [ Fortune Star| 2
MAEENRARNBRRZ
& &A1& & B2 5 - Fortune Star
WERBEBARTERLEE
RARNBESZ -RN_TZTTH
TZA - REMZEETEE R
EREBEARL2HEH TR
TEH 8 MEREFEEREMNES
EIASBREREAAEN 2518
MR—ZTZETF+—-—H=+H
WRtE - BZZEZETF+_A
® AERAMNGTETBETE
BiEE o

REEFRERNE  BERF
JE B+ AR Z bk iy A E B
HR KR AR EAHB’\ Z2T
ZFE+-A=ZTHHNRERFZ
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—EETE+-A=1THIEH
BRI EREHNIRBEFEE - A%
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>
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 27. RUAKBRFE (#)
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) BEBEEMRMTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) RERMETE (&)
The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FITAMEEREREZNT :

31 December 31 December
2007
—ETLF
+=-—A=+—AH
Discount rate BhIR & 3.45%
Expected return on plan assets FTEIEETE B0 R 4%
The actuarial valuation shows that the market value of BEMEBTRTEEER_Z
plan assets at 31 December 2008 was HK$985,000 (31 ZNF+_A=Z+—HzZW
December 2007: HK$938,000) and that the actuarial 8 49850008 L (ZEE+F
value of these assets represented 126% (31 December += A =+ — A8 : 938000
2007: 447%) of the benefits that were accrued to L) MZSEEZHEEEE
members. THEERFTEIKBEEENZ 2
126% (ZFZ+F=A=+—
H :447%) °
The debit (credit) recognised in the consolidated income RiZa MR R ERBHETE
statement in respect of the defined benefit plan was as WREZH (WA T -
follows:
2009 2008
—EZhF YIS
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest cost R Bk A — 8
Expected return on plan assets FTEIE ETE D W (38) (45)
Actuarial loss (gain) recognised FABEBE(Bx)
in the year R 564 9)
Total, included in administrative et B tATTHRH
expenses (other income) (EM Y A) (46)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 27. BRIKERETE (&)

(a) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) AEBEEMRMNTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) RERMETE (&)
The actual return on plan assets for the year was FEEENAFENERDR
HK$38,000 (2008: HK$45,000). B38000 B L(ZZTEEN&F -

45,000 7T) °

The amount included in the consolidated balance sheet AEBMERKRBENEESTA
in respect of the Group’s retirement benefit assets was as BREEEABRNEBELT
follows:

2009 2008

—EZhF EEEYING

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Fair value of plan assets HEIEEATE 985 938
Present value of funded obligations 1t IR & (783) (210)

At end of the year Fx 728

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets were as FEIEEATFENESHAT
follows:

2009 2008

Ll T )\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FHET

At beginning of the year F ) 938 893

Expected return of plan assets BETETEFE R 38 45

Actuarial gains BEER ] —

At end of the year FR 938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conTinUED) 27. BARBEREE ()
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) BEBEEMRMTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) AERFIGFE (&)
Movements in the present value of the funded obligations HRBENEDHET :

were as follows:

2009 2008

“ETNEF [N

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

At beginning of the year F 1) 210 211
Interest cost B A — 8
Actuarial losses (gains) BEBEIED) 573 (9)

At end of the year Fx 210
The major categories of plan assets, and the expected FFEEECEEER - U RE
rate of return at the balance sheet date for each category, RN EE B 2 BB W&
were as follows: Nk
Expected return Fair value of plan assets
8 #A B 3R AEEEATE
2009 2008
“EZThE i
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHT
Debt instruments EBTE 956
Cash and cash HeMkiRe®
equivalents B 29
Weighted average ke ER
expected return 5]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminueD)

(a)

(b)

(0

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes the lower of HK$1,000
or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme.

Plan for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the required contributions under the scheme.

Plan for US employees

Defined benefit plan

The Group operated a defined benefit pension plan for
the hourly-paid employees of the United States subsidiary
which was disposed of to an independent third party
during the year. The adoption date was 30 June 2005.
The pension plan was frozen and not accepting new
participants. Pension plan benefits were based primarily
on participants’ compensation and years of credited

service.

27. RRBEREE (#)

(a)

(b)

(9

BIGERAR AR 2008/09 F3
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REHMEHE - PEMERRA
ZREFEMNETANL @
RRBHMEEIHET - (ERRET
Z R e REEE R KRG B
R — B IR REERE

K -

REBEREEMREE

FIE 48 A 5t &

AEENZBENREB QR (RF
NEHETBEIFE=77)KHK
REBANFEETRFHESR -
KABERA_TTRFAA=
T8 o ZRIRGE BB BURAE K
TEMNM2ME - RIKFHE T
@ T BASINE KRB & 5T A
M AR 75 S HIET E -

115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEe

B35 AR B R (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

27.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conTiNUED)
(c) Plan for US employees (Continued)

Defined contribution plan

The Group also sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing plan for
monthly-paid employees of the United States subsidiary
which was disposed of to an independent third party
during the year. The United States subsidiary was required
to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll to fund
the plan, the maximum allowable contribution by the
Group for each employee was 50% of gross wages
subject to the limitations set by the Internal Revenue
Code in the United States.

The Group no longer has obligation for the US retirement
plans following the disposal of the Group’s US subsidiary
in October 2008. The amount included in retirement
benefit liabilities in the year in respect of the retirement
benefit pension plan was nil (2008: approximately
HK$19,414,000).

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

116

On 13 January 2006, the Company issued HK$1,000,000,000
zero coupon convertible bonds due in 2011 (the “2011
Bonds”). All the principal amount of the 2011 Bonds was fully
converted into ordinary shares of the Company by end of the
financial year of 2008.

The 2011 Bonds were convertible, at the option of the holders
thereof, into ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
at a conversion price of HK$12.04 per share at any time on or
after 28 January 2006 up to and including 6 January 2011. The
2011 Bonds could be redeemed at the option of the 2011
Bonds holders on 13 January 2008 at 109.31% of the principal
amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conTinuED) 28. AIRRES (&)

On or after 13 January 2008, the Company had the option to
redeem all of the entire remaining amount of the 2011 Bonds,
at any time prior to their maturity, at an amount stipulated in
the terms of the 2011 Bonds, when any of the following
conditions are satisfied (i) the closing market price of the
Company’s shares for any 30 consecutive trading days, prior to
the date on which the notice of redemption is given, was at
least 130% of the redemption price of each share; or (ii) at
least 90% of the principal amount of the 2011 Bonds were
converted, redeemed or purchased and cancelled. The
Company could redeem the 2011 Bonds at 124.92% of their
principal amount on 13 January 2011 unless conversion or
cancellation by the 2011 Bonds holders before maturity.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, all the remaining
principal amount of the 2011 Bonds of HK$204,710,000 were
converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

EZ_EENF—R+=Hk 2% -
KARARE R AREER_F—
—F AR EFH YR F B R AT AR
REMRUATBRAEER : ()
RNAT M EE30EL S B HKRS
B AELEBERANNSZLATR
A% 5 BE [E B 4% 2 130% : sk (i) = ZF —
—FAIRRESFAE 2 HDI0%E
B ED - BENEHE —F—
—FABMRELFIR T ——F—
B+=ZBUARSE 212492% B K1~
AIfER - BRIEERSMANZZT ——
FRAIMRESFBACEBRIGEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. B
Amount
Number of oL
ordinary shares HK$'000
ZEREE FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each & & {E0.1078 7T A I 3 %

Authorised: JRIE:

At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 ~ —ZZ 0 H —
and 31 March 2009 —EENF=ZR=+—H

kZZEThF=A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid: BEITRER:

At 1 April 2007 —EEZLFMA—H 1,119,477,932 111,948
Exercise of share options 7 150 e i #e 900,000 90
Conversion of convertible bonds HBA iR E S 17,002,480 1,700

At 31 March 2008 and —ZEENF=A=1+—H
31 March 2009 F—_EZAF=A=+—H 1,137,380,412 113,738

During the year ended 31 March 2008, 900,000 share options
under the Share Option Scheme (as defined in note 30) were
exercised at a subscription price of HK$8.50 per share, resulting
in the issue of 900,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company. In addition, convertible bonds with a principal
amount of HK$204,710,000 were converted into ordinary
shares at an exercise price of HK$12.04 resulting in the issue of
17,002,480 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company.

All the shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing

shares in all respects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30. BBIRAEETE

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, the share option scheme
(the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted.

The Scheme was established for the purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible persons. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from adoption of the

Scheme. The Scheme will expire on 10 September 2013.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors (the “Board”) may at
their discretion grant options to (i) any director (including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the Group in which
the Group holds an equity interest or a subsidiary of such
company; or (ii) any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners,
promoters, service providers of any member of the Group may
be determined by the Board from time to time to subscribe for
the shares of the Company (the “Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point in
time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance

with the Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEe

B35 AR B R (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueD)

Options may be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the Board
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options may be granted without initial
payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration for
grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to the
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

(a) Share options granted on 23 December
2005

The following table discloses details of the Company’s
options granted on 23 December 2005 under the Scheme
held by employees (including a director) and movement

in such holdings during the year:

0. BREE (&)

ERAAREZGRENHE(E
RERETEMNDAFTAENREH
R(E)) TEERE(ZHEHRE
MR ERITRREF A SEE+
F) - BTAXMETERTRE
RBRENREN BRETES
AELMBAFOERTRE - 17
EERFRTIERSE : ORH®@
B () NEEAERAE
B#ERARBOUWTIE - i)k
EEERE B A AES XA ER
R ARERAROFHETE -

(@) W-FEHEF+=A=+=
AT KR

TEREER_ZEZTAFT+ A
ZH=BETHERESET
ZEE(BEES)BEAAE
BREFBRRERZE

Number of share options

BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at 31 March at 31 March
at 1 April 2007 Exercised 2008 2009
R-ZESLHE during R=ZFZF/\F Llapsedduring R=-ZENF
Category Date of grant Exercise price A—B% theyear ZA=+—H theyear ZA=+—H
EE ZHEAH TEE THEHEE FRTEBE HRTEHE FAXRHE HRTEHE
Director 23 December 2005
% —EERF
+-—A=+=H 8.50 600,000 — 600,000 (600,000) -
Other employees 23 December 2005
Hityfg 8 —TTRF
+-A=-+=H 8.50 900,000 (900,000) — — —
1,500,000 (900,000) 600,000 (600,000) —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conminuED) 30. iElREsTEl ()
(@) Share options granted on 23 December (@ R=ZEBRF+ZA=+=

2005 (Continued) BEFWERE (&)

In respect of the share options exercised during the year RERNBE_FTENF=H=

ended 31 March 2008, the weighted average share price T—BIETTE 2R - TR

on the dates of exercise is HK$21.68. BERZ fn#E PR (B 2168

HBTT ©

The options granted on 23 December 2005 may be RZZEZRF+-A=Z+=H

exercised in accordance with the following terms of the K2 ERERIEGE T8

Scheme as to: AT -

(i)  one-third of the options commencing 23 December ) BZZTEERF+=AZ
2005 to 22 December 2008, the fair value of each +=BEFE-_ZF)N\F+
option at the date of grant is HK$1.87; Azt ZBHfTE=5

ERELBEEBZAFE
HEt A1.878 7T ¢

(i) one-third of the options commencing 23 December i) BZEEXF+AZ
2006 to 22 December 2008 with vesting period T=Z=REZZETNF T+
from 23 December 2005 to 22 December 2006, Rzt ZHITE=H
the fair value of each option at the date of grant is 2 — BB R K AT
HK$1.97; and EHH_ZTTRF+ =

AZ+=ZHZ=-_Z2Z X
F+ZHAZ+=ZH" B
BEEREEHEZER ZA
FEMBTAE1978 T &
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conminuED) 30. iElREsTEl ()
(@) Share options granted on 23 December (@ R=ZEBRF+ZA=+=

2005 (Continued) BEFWERE (&)

(i) one-third of the options commencing 23 December i)y B_ZTEZELHF+-_A=
2007 to 22 December 2008 with vesting period T=Z=REZZETNF T+
from 23 December 2005 to 22 December 2007, “AZt+-HTE=S
the fair value of of each option at the date of grant 2 — BB R K AT
is HK$2.08. EHH_ZTTAF+

A-Z+=ZHEZE-ZZ+
F+_HAZ+=ZH" B
BREERHBZERAZA
FEMFTA2088 T °

(b) Share options granted on 3 October 2006 (b) R=ZEEXRF+A=ZHET
The following table discloses details of the Company’s THREBER_ZZRFTH=
options granted on 3 October 2006 under the Scheme AR cEREFE T ZES
held by employees (including directors) and movement in (BEEF)FERRIBRE
such holdings during the year: BRERFERNZEE) :

Number of share options

BREHA
Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at 31 March at 31 March
at 1 April 2007 Exercised 2008 Cancelled 2009
R-ZBELE during R=-ZZNEF during R-BZBh&
Category Date of grant Exercise price A—HB#% theyear =A=+-—H theyear ZA=+—H
BE RiAH THE THE#E FATHEBE HRTERE FRIHHE HATEHBE
Directors 3 October 2006
S ZETRE
+A=H 15.10 1,272,000 — 1,272,000 — 1,272,000
Other employees 3 October 2006
Hittfg 8 —ETRE
+A=H 15.10 4,056,000 (360,000) 3,696,000 (2,976,000) 720,000
5,328,000 (360,000) 4,968,000 (2,976,000) 1,992,000
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e M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conminuep)

(b) Share options granted on 3 October 2006
(Continued)

The options granted on 3 October 2006 may be exercised
in accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as

to:

(i) 1,676,000 of the options commencing 1 January
2008 to 31 December 2010, with vesting period
from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2007, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is

approximately HK$4.13;

(i) 1,826,000 of the options commencing 1 January
2009 to 31 December 2010, with vesting period
from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2008, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is

approximately HK$4.47; and

(i) 1,826,000 of the options commencing 1 January
2010 to 31 December 2010, with vesting period
from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2009, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is

approximately HK$4.69.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conminuED) 30. iElREsTEl ()
(c) Share options granted on 5 September (0 RZZEENFAAEEET
2008 Y RB AR HE
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TEBEER-_ZEZNFNLAR
options granted on 5 September 2008 under the Scheme AR EREFE T 2ES
held by directors and movement in such holdings during RHERARBREFBEMNFA
the year: ZEE

Number of share options

BREHAR
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted at 31 March
at 1 April 2008 during the 2009
Exercise RN-ZTENF year RZZENEF

Category Date of grant price B—H FR/F =A=+-—H

B BEBH THEE HRTEHE HE HARTEHAB

Directors 5 September 2008

BE —TENF

NAEAB 7.488 — 50,000,000 50,000,000

The options granted on 5 September 2008 may be RZZBEZNFAARBRLEZ

exercised in accordance with the following terms of the B IR RE AT AR PR AT &I T BV IR AT

Scheme as to: & :

() 16,666,667 of the options commencing 1 ) BZZTEZEALFHILA—H
September 2009 to 31 August 2013, with vesting EZFT—=FN A=+
period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August 2009, — H 771# 16,666,667 % HY
the fair value of each option at the date of grant is BREREETESRAH
approximately HK$1.63; —E2ENFNALARRAE

TEEAFENA=F+—
H - BEREERHAE
Bz RAFEMETA1635
JC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTinueD) B REstE (®)
(c) Share options granted on 5 September © R-ZEENFEABRHEF

2008 (Continued)

(i) 16,666,666 of the options commencing 1
September 2010 to 31 August 2013, with vesting
period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August 2010,
the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$1.92;

(i) 16,666,667 of the options commencing 1
September 2011 to 31 August 2013, with vesting
period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August 2011,
the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$2.13.

The exercise of the options during the exercise periods
described above, commencing from 1 September 2009
to 31 August 2013, are subject to meeting the pre-
determined and specific profit targets for the Group for
each of the years ending 31 March 2009, 2010, 2011
and 2012.

As at 31 March 2009, the performance conditions of the
share option were not met in respect of the actual results
for the year ended 31 March 2009 and it is not probable
that the profit targets for the other years will be met.
Accordingly, no share-based payments related to the
share option granted on 5 September 2008 have been
recognised as expense in the consolidated income
statement.

MERE (&)

iy BZZT—FTFNLA—AH
s2-T—=ZF A=+
— H 17 1# 16,666,666 % &)
BREREETESAH
—EENFALARABE
—E-ZEFENA=+—
H - ERkEcRLAE
B2z AFEMETR1.927
JC

(i B-_T——FhA—H
EZE-—=ZFNA=F
— H 17 116,666,667 i% &9
BREREETESH
—E2ENFNLARAE
—E-—FNA=Z+—
H - BRELCRLAE
H2 A FEMER2138

ﬁo

BE-ETNAFENAA-HRBEC
Z—=FN\RA=+—H1E ¥

EAATE R RTT R R AR
AEBAKERBE_TTN
F-_Z2-—FF --_2——F

rF—FE—-——"F=ZA=+—H81t
FEZFzETREERF B

B

RZFBZFAF=ZA=+—8"
B 2 RIBIRITRBEERE
E-TTNF=ZA=1+—H8L
FEZERER REHEMBSF
FZmﬂH%ﬁ%MLﬁ ES|

CHEARAR_TTN\FAN
HﬂE%?ﬁ%h%Z&%i
MHRERGEERERANERS
X e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

REZZNFARAERERT
MBI HE - ()

b

on

Z2ERNFENNZEAEKGT
4o BE_FT\ENAARA
ZIEEHRMPEBITAEMERA
AT - ARETERA 2B A
m

>

HK$ (L) 6.70
HKS$ (BJT) 7.488
47.40%

2.65%

1.86%

4.99 years ()

fEE -

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuED) 30. BRAESTEl(#)
(c) Share options granted on 5 September ()

2008 (Continued)
These fair values were calculated using Binominal Model.
The valuation as at 5 September 2008 was carried out by
Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited. The inputs used in
the model were as follows:
Closing share price at date of grant B HZBEGWKTE
Exercise price T1EE
Expected volatility (note i) TEHR 18 (B9 %)
Risk-free interest rate (note ii) £ 8 8 F) 8 R (AT i)
Expected annual dividend yield TEHESFERSESX
Expected option life TE&H A FA 4 ER
notes:
(i) Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility

of the price return of the ordinary shares of the Company over the

past year from the valuation date.

(i) The risk-free rate interest was based on the yield of Exchange

Fund Note.

The estimated total fair value with respect to share
options granted to directors and employees on 23
December 2005, 3 October 2006 and 5 September
2008 was HK$3,552,000, HK$23,653,000 and
HK$94,530,000, respecitvely.

HK$6,485,000 (2008: HK$10,886,000) was charged to
the consolidated income statement as administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 March 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

= A
=

Bt R MY RE (AR)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

31.

32.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the bank and other borrowings and equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

31.

32.

EXREBERE

AEBEREEAUERAEEDN
ERURERERS TEBRKRE
EXARELDISESHAEARMAR
= EHR o AEE BB BR 4R A
EF B

AEBNERAGEBRBEAB  EF
BRERIT R EMEE A RA QR E
aREARGRR(BERSETR
ARZIEER) °

ARREETHRFENGERE - 1F
BEREN - EEHEEERN
AR EEEERNBRORAR
REEENEZ A5ESBBK
RS ~ AT B K B B D A R
BITHERERRE T EHLER]
AR EERE

BT HE

() MBIAEES

2009 2008
—EEBNF ZEENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets HBEE
Fair value through profit or loss —  Z sk E18 2 AFE — $14
derivative financial instruments BT A 5,064 25,224
Loans and receivables (including EnNERGE(BERS &
cash and cash equivalents) WEZEY) 3,799,287 2,995,999
Financial liabilities BHEE
Fair value through profit or loss —  Z sk E18 2 AFE — 514
derivative financial instruments BT A 34,483 147,102
Derivatives under hedge accounting ¥ &t T 274 T A 202,718 207,749
Amortised cost b N 9,606,748 8,294,195
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 32. T E#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEREREEB N REE

policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and AEENFEVBITABRERE
other receivables, amounts due from an associate, WE 5 BR 3 K H e W SRR
amounts due from related companies, derivative financial FE W H‘a‘“*’\ AIFIE - ERE
instruments, restricted bank deposits, bank balances and BARFIE TEMBITA
cash, trade and other payables and bank and other A BRI R ﬂ?@r/\ CERTTEEER IR
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are Re ENEIERREAME
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated NRBEBRBITREMER - 8
with these financial instruments include market risk % T AR B P A8 B BT B
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and EoHZEWBTAREMNRE
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks eaEmsRERR(EERERR K
are set out below. Management manages and monitors FMERR)  EERRRTEH
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are BB - A EMZERR
implemented on a timely and effective manner. WIREEHINT - EREEIE

REZEZERER - AREREE
BRI R EE S

Market Risk ™ 35 & k2

(i)  Currency risk (i EBEER
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which REBRENERS
expose the Group to market risk arising from SAREEBEBERIINEIE
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group KB 5| H) 5 E R
currently has a policy to hedge its long-term foreign N & B B AT ERER B BUSR
currency exposure on the US$ borrowings. EARETLEEH TR
However, management will monitor other foreign N R R B
currency exposure closely and consider the use of B E %Y B R A
hedging instruments when the need arises. KRR WEERANLE

RYHITA-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 32. T E#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and by BHXEBEEEANREBEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market Risk (Continued) mEERE (&)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) iy E®RRKE)
At the balance sheet dates, the carrying amounts WEER NEBNUE
of the Group’s significant monetary assets, MEEERNIEEY
monetary liabilities and derivative financial LN ERETENEE
instruments denominated in currencies other than EMEE E¥aEAK
the functional currency of the relevant group MTEMBITAENEEE
entities are as follows: W
Monetary assets: TREE :

2009 2008

—EENFE ZEENF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

RMB AR 652,608 937,343

us$ e 320,780 482,805

EUR BT 49,050 51,628

GBP = 64,306 13,966

JPY = 13 12,280
Monetary liabilities: TREE :

2009 2008

—zzhs [

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT

RMB AR M 1,215,891 663,028

us$ ETT 965,092 1,018,952

EUR o 30,121 33,223

JPY = 4,137 85,681
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 32. I TE(#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and by BHXEBEEEANREBEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market Risk (Continued) mEERE (&)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) iy E®RRKE)
Derivative financial instruments: PTEBETA

2009 2008
—ETNE IS
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Assets: EE
us$ X7 18,791
EUR 57T 1,236
GBP e 680
Liabilities: a8E:
us$ e 46,426 179,258
EUR &) 7T 349 —
GBP gz 1,326
Sensitivity analysis BRE D
The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of AEBXTEZARE -
RMB, EUR, GBP and JPY. As HK$, the functional BT - RE KB ITHK
currency of the relevant group entities, is pegged FE - ARBIT(ERR
with US$, the Group’s currency risk in relation to Al Ihae EHE) mE T H
the above US$ monetary assets/liabilities is expected W A AEEARL
to be minimal. METEBEE, BE

B & L B AR A
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RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following tables details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in the functional
currency of the relevant group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies to the extent that the
exposures have not been hedged. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and derivative financial instruments
and adjusts their translation or fair value in the case
of the derivative financial instruments at the year
ended for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
On this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit where the functional currency of the
relevant group entities weaken against the foreign
currencies by 5%, and vice versa.

32. I TE(#)

by HHEEBEEBENREREK

(&)

5 ER (&)

(i)

BERER (&)
HRERE T (&)
TERAFLAEEEY &
HHRBOBRT B
THEBREEER I
BEE® LR T#5%H
FRE -S%REANME
EEBABERINER
BB SRA M B R L
REBRERINEERH
BEAEEHELMF
B BREREINMREHE
MONEFTEMARENE
WEBEMTAEMBITA
YREERRBITEY
BTEERRRFE:
DA 2 Bk SN 6 B 2R 1 5% &
o AELMEET F
FREEEEZER
BN B2 E5% - iR
BF &M mL e R
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 32. MBI HE#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) BERBREEB MNRBE
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market Risk (Continued) mEERE (&)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) iy E®RRKE)
Monetary assets and liabilities: THMEERBE:

2009 2008
Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
in profit in profit
—EENE —ZETNF
2 F 12 A

O 2>) CRLA)

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FHET

RMB AR (28,011) 11,247
EUR B 946 920
GBP e 3,215 698
JPY AT (206) (3,670)

Derivative financial instruments: PTEMBTA :

2009 2008

Increase Increase

(decrease) in (decrease) in

profit profit

—EBEhE —ZZEENF

& F 38 hn 2 F3E AN

(R 2) CRLA)

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

EUR B 5,069 1,232
GBP e = (1,616)
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RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate borrowings. The Group
currently does not have a fair value interest rate risk
hedging policy. However, management monitors
fair value interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant fair value interest rate exposure

should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. It
is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at fixed
interest rate so as to minimise the cash flow interest
rate risk. In order to achieve this result, the Group
entered into certain interest rate swaps to partially
hedge against its exposures to variable interest-rate
of bank borrowings. The critical terms of these
interest rate swaps are similar to those of hedged
borrowings. These interest rate swaps are
designated as effective hedging instruments and

hedge accounting is used.

32. I TE(#)

by HHEEBEEBENREREK

(&)

5 ER (&)

(if)

BIGERAR AR 2008/09 F3
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AEEAEAEEHETR
EENQFENERRE
A& EB R ERFE
MEREEDHE - R
m EEEERERFE
MRE R IR E
RERLHTPERNNRQF
BN KRR -

AEBIRAAERBRT
BRITEENHEERE
F R E R A BRI
RRRFBEBENER
FECUBREREN
ZEBRRERE - Bt
REBEILETH X
HARRITEENTR
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

134

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for both
non-derivative and derivative instruments at the
balance sheet date. For variable-rate bank
borrowings, to the extent that they are not hedged
by effective instruments, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings, if interest rate had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 March 2009 would decrease/
increase by HK$24,568,000 (2008: decrease/
increase by HK$21,575,000).

32. I TE(#)

by HHEEBEEBENREREK

(&)

5 ER (&)

(if)
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FE M mARME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE-ZFEEANF=F=+—HILF&E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 32. T E#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) BERBREEB MNRBE
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market Risk (Continued) miZRAR (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) iy FERR(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRERE D (E)
For derivative financial instruments, the sensitivity MOTEMBETAEMmMS -
analysis below has been determined assuming that LNTHRERES T RE
interest rate had been 50 basis points higher and all A 2 & F+50 & & 2w A
other variables were held constant, the impact on BEMSHESTE
the Group's profit and equity, and vice versa. HHEAESERFEER
M UEREREBH
R & o
Increase in Increase in
profit equity
& FI1E o0 REZRIE A0
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At 31 March 2009 —ZEENF=A=+—H 856 3,954
At 31 March 2008 —EENF=ZA=+—H 5,657 30,417
Credit risk =&
As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure to E(\fggﬂiz B=4+—8"
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group REBHREFHRERITEE
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the MENBBELINESEER
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the MR EGEEEBBERIAID
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the SO EEENERE -

consolidated balance sheet.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of AREREEERR  A&5H
the Group has delegated a team responsible for EREEZE—HABEERE
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other BERE ZESEHUREME
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is =R FF o R E A HE R
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group REUBREITE) o I NEE
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt EEEe FrARMSEANGES
at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate ZAa el &5 NERILEX
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In el BB ERTHMEERE -
this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit Mt BEERBALEEZEE
risk is significantly reduced. [B b2 B R KR ©
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep) TR ®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) BERBREEB MNRBE

136

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned

by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on amounts
due from an associate and related companies. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers,

spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.

(&)

EERR (&)
MRS T ERBEREEFR
BEIRSEEFRZRT
BRBHESZEERBER -

$%@E’W§H& A WNCIPNE =R
ARBEFCEFEERR

%WE%%ﬂaﬁﬁigﬁ’

BMEZETERMIB R -

Liquidity risk mEE & E

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors REBRBESRRME - K
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents ﬁbg}‘?&fﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁib{ﬁ
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s $ EEEERHES  UERA

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash

flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-
derivative financial liabilities, the tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest

and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments settle on a net basis,
undiscounted net cash flows are presented. Whereas they
require gross settlement, the undiscounted gross inflow

and outflow on these derivatives are shown on the table.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep) 32. MBI HE#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and by BXRBEEENAREEK

=

policies (Continued) (42

Liquidity and interest risk tables MEE & LN X E &

Weighted
average
effective
interestrate Less than
1month
SR-8A
HK$'000
TAR

2009
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables — current

BN REBIE —
&

it 138,565

1-3months
—EZf8R
HK$'000
TiER

115,183

3 months
to1year
ZRE-F
HK$'000
TR

447,258

1-5years
—ERf
HK$'000

TR

Over5years
BBRLEF
HK$'000
THET

Total
undiscounted
cashflows

BAG

HKS'000
TER

701,006

Carrying
amount at

31 March 2009
R-BENE
ZAZt-H
ZERAE
HK$'000
T

701,006

Borrowings
— fixed rate 439,736 188,087 185,331 - 1,189,142 2,002,296 1,528,168
— variable rate 1,712,575 259,960 2,068,759 3,178,027 — 7,219,321 7,013,532
Other payables

— non-current

— 8

2,290,876

Derivatives — net settlement
Interest rate swaps
Currency structured instruments

AR —BERK
MEES
BRUEETIA

Derivatives — gross settlement

fEIA—gRRK

563,230

26,326

26,326

2,701,348

392,763

3,570,790

195,725

195,725

1,189,142

392,763

10,315,386

292,297
349

292,646

364,042

9,606,748

190,426
349

190,775

Cross currency interest rate swaps RXEMF R
— inflow —RA (42,288) (200,878) (856,845) (1,100,011) (1,004,182)
— outflow — i 43222 207,468 931,822 1,182,512 1,050,608
934 6,590 74,977 82,501 46,426
Weighted Carrying
average Total amount at
effective undiscounted 31 March 2008
interestrate Less than 3 months cashflows RZZENE=
UV 1 month 1-3months to1year 1-5years OverSyears  K#T@A%% A=t—-Az&
THE  SR-BR -E=ER Z@EAE-F —E0% BBLE 24t BE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRl TR Tiin Thn FAL TiEx Tiin FAL
2008
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables MR RA R - 60,767 976,219 156,365 - - 1,193,351 1,193,351
Borrowings
— fixed rate 6.68 — - - — 1,241,009 1,241,009 776,800
— variable rate 350 1,831,529 438,436 9,738 4,511,266 - 6,877,969 6,324,044
1,892,2% 1,414,655 253,103 4,511,266 1,241,009 9,312,329 8,294,195
Derivatives — net settlement fHETR — FERK
Interest rate swaps ik ek — 19,558 58,304 208,075 — 285,937 174,267
Currency structured instruments HREMERTE 1,397 65,483 46,847 - - 113,727 113,727
1,397 85,041 105,151 208,075 — 399,664 287,99
Derivatives — gross settlement AR — BERU
Cross currency interest rate swaps RNERFIRIH
— inflow —RA - - (42,267) (194,437) (873,014) (1,109,718) (947,068)
— outflow — iRl - - 43222 207,486 983,689 1,234,397 1,013,925
- - 955 13,049 10675 124,679 66,857
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 32. T E#)
(c) Fair Value (o 2~¥4E&E

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities WBEERMBEBEZATEAE

are determined as follows: BUATHAAETE :

e the fair values of derivative financial instruments e TEMBIAZAYE
are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis DEREFIMGHRES
based on the applicable yield curves of interest B2 R R R oM S fE R 2
rates and foreigh exchange rates as determined by ERABHRE  BREBEEH
counterparty financial institutions. RBEMES>MAELE

e the fair values of financial assets and financial s UWBEERMBAEE(CT
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments) BETEMBEIERE) 2R
are determined in accordance with generally FTERBREARTEERN
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash AERBABEMNEBEED
flow analysis using prices from observable current BRPEHFIRE S
market transactions. MEPTRELETEH -

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial EERRREBENENEE Y

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost BRERLECUBEERY B

in the consolidated financial statements approximate AECZEEEREQNFEE

their fair values. 2

33. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN  33. WEBHiE R RlZE/ME &=

SUBSIDIARIES

In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% RZEZENFTA AEERMK
equity interests in each of the two subsidiaries from their Bt 1~ &) 2 2 B B KB 5% i ) B
minority shareholders at an aggregate consideration of US$35. BAASHTI0%kE  BREA
The excess of the carrying amount of the net assets acquired BpETMBBEEFECRES
over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited BHOMIREZATFEZEED
directly to equity. BEERERPNRE -
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RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

34, HEHEB A A

On 15 October 2008, the Group and Worthy Pick Group (a)
Limited, an independent third party, entered into a sales
and purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group
disposed its entire equity interests in two subsidiaries in
the United States to Worthy Pick Group Limited. The
disposal was approved by shareholders in the
extraordinary general meeting on 15 October 2008, and

was completed on the same date.

The combined net assets of the subsidiaries on the date

of disposal are as follows:

RZZEZENF+A+THB K
& B 838 37 % = 75 Worthy Pick
Group Limited&] 32 B & 1 7
& It - AN & B [mWorthy Pick
Group Limited () & E 7 % B i
XMBRA2E RS - ZIEH
EER_ZETNF+A+TAA
BT RREFR ARG EREI
A WREE T e

MEBARRHERSMNGA]
EFBMT

HK$'000
FET

NET ASSETS DISPOSED OF HEEEFHE
Property, plant and equipment M BE &&E 212,002
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE E 42,161
Inventories FE 94,724
Other receivables H b & W SRR 49,414
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 5,945
Trade and other payables FET B 5 BR 3k I H b f& A~ 5RIE (205,356)
Net assets disposed of HEEEFHE 198,890
Loss on disposal HEEACERE (1,820)
Total consideration ‘B 197,070
Satisfied by: SN
Cash Re 20,000
Deferred consideration FEERE 177,070

197,070
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEACRESRAFE
Cash consideration HeERE 20,000
Bank balances and cash disposed of HERTEBEIAS (5,945)

14,055
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueD)

140

(a)

(Continued)
The deferred consideration will be settled in cash by the
purchaser in series of payments as follows:

(i) HK$30 million by 31 December 2008;

(i) HK$30 million by 31 March 2009;

(i) HK$30 million by 30 June 2009;

(iv)  HK$30 million by 30 September 20009;

(v} HK$30 million by 31 December 2009 and,;

(vi)  HK$30 million by 31 March 2010.

note: The present value of the deferred consideration as at 15 October

2008 was determined using cash flows discounted at an effective
interest rate of 3.71% per annum.

On 24 August 2007, the Group and Well Boom
International Limited (“Well Boom”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Gold Best, entered into a subscription
agreement (the "FSGL Agreement”) in respect of
investment in FSGL by Well Boom. Pursuant to the FSGL
Agreement, the Group and Well Boom subscribed for 90
and 810 of new shares in FSGL, respectively. Upon
completion, the Group’s effective interest in FSGL was
diluted from 100% to 19% and FSGL becomes an
associate of the Group. The FSGL Agreement was
approved by shareholders in the extraordinary general
meeting on 28 September 2007, which is also the
completion date. As the deemed disposal was made
indirectly to the ultimate holding company, the gain
arising on the dilution of interest in FSGL was credited to
equity as it was regarded as a contribution from equity
participant.

34. HEMB AR (&)

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HILFZF

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueD)

(b)

34. HEMB AR (&)

(Continued) by (4&)
The consolidated net liabilities of FSGL and its subsidiary FSGLE K I8 2 R 4 B 15
at the date of disposal were as follows: Wirs BEFBOT
HK$'000
FHET
NET LIABILITIES DISPOSED OF HERE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERZE 21,139
Prepaid lease payments TENHEERIE 77,758
Inventories FE 5,123
Other receivables H b e U 5RIR 43,546
Amounts due from related companies FE W75 BB A B 5RIR 39
Bank balances and cash WITHEB LIRS 29,862
Other payables H A FE A 5RI8 (452)
Amount due to a related company JE B REE QBRI (189,566)
(12,551)
Transferred to interest in an associate EERE-ABRE AT ER (1
Gain on deemed disposal, accounted for
as deemed capital contribution RIELE G RIEFEAR (12,552)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRERHFHE
Cash consideration ReRE —
Bank balances and cash disposed of HERITEHRER S 29,862
29,862

EERBR AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35. REMNLH
The Group as lessee SEEREEAA
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for REER  KEERBETTRE®N
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable THREFEEHEON AIEERND
operating leases in respect of land and buildings, which fall due SEBESWOT -
as follows:
2009 2008
TETAE IS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —F R 20,242 1,736
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_HEEERFAN(BEERE
M) 98,223 109,562
After five years FRFE 513,685 392,464
632,150 503,762
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEHeEASER T REET
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For lands, MAEYMERNOES - LHMEM
leases are negotiated for an average term of twenty years and MEFH -+ HeBlSFHE -
rentals are negotiated every year. For office properties, leases WMAEMENHEBAFTH—F HA
are negotiated for an average term of one year with fixed HeTE -
rentals.
The Group as lessor EEES A
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with REER AEEEAEAFRE
tenants for the use of the Group’s pipelines with the following SEITARENNSERSIT
future minimum lease payments:
2009 2008
—EEThE ey
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TET
Within one year —FR 390
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEERFRN(BIEER
) 1,560
After five years FRF%E 780
2,730
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RE B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #ZE_—ZFZTNF=ZA=1+—HI FZE

35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35 REMNLH #)
(CONTINUED)
The Group as lessor (Continued) EEEEHEEAE)
Operating lease payments represent rental payable by tenants KREHSEHPAERALTEENS
for the use of the Group’s pipelines. Leases are negotiated for EREMMES BBEH+F 5
an average term of ten years with fixed rentals. The Group no WHESTE R_ZETN\FT AW
longer has operating lease arrangement for the use of pipelines EXBWEARE AEECHE
following the disposal of the Group’s US subsidiaries in October KEBEHRELH -
2008.
36. COMMITMENTS 36. HRIE
2009 2008
TETAE EeiEs
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Capital expenditures contracted for but FLE R #1E AR LR G B IEHE P
not provided in the consolidated BENERARAX
financial statements in respect of:
— property, plant and equipment —BEYE  BERSE 900,161 2,648,229
— land use rights — + b {sF FA #E 48,351 21,821

948,512 2,670,050
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37. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 37. BERMBEBALIRS
TRANSACTIONS
(@) Connected and related party transactions (a) BERHEBALIXRS
During the year, the Group had significant transactions FR-EEEBERATEEXR
with related parties, certain of which are also deemed to X5 HAEFHRE LR A
be connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. WRIERBEEAL -
Significant transactions with connected and related FR - EBEEATETHNER
parties during the year are as follows: RSWT
2009 2008
ZBEAF —ZETENF
Name of party Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALES REME FHERT FHET
Lee & Man Industrial Finished goods sold by the Group
Manufacturing (note i) SEEERKM
BXEE (M) 145,958 143,941
Steam and electricity sold by
the Group
SELEXRNREN 1,556
Raw material purchased by
the Group
SEBEERMH _
Lee & Man Paper Products Licence fee paid by the Group
Limited (note i) EEENFTAESE
BXRBERAR (ML) 586
Jiangsu Chemical (note i) Steam and electricity sold by
SLERAL T (MIsED) the Group
SELEXRLE 20,262 —
Well Boom Capital contribution arising
from disposal of
subsidiaries (note ii)
HHEEMBRARMEELEZEAR
BBk (P &Eii) 12,552
Top Brand Limited and Wise Acquisition of remaining
Sense Investments Limited 10% interest in each of

two subsidiaries (note 33)
WEMMBKNB AR SEHT
10% % 7%
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37. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (conminuED)

(@) Connected and related party transactions

(b)

(@

(d)

(Continued)

notes:

(i) The companies are benefically owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung

Patrick, a director of the Company.

(i) Details of the disposal of subsidiaries to Well Boom, a fellow
subsidiary of the Company, are set out in note 34.

Related party transaction

Name of party
HEALER

Nature of transaction

REMHE

(a)

(b)

FSGL

Interest income received by
the Group
B UER 2 FLB YA

Connected and related party balances

Details of outstanding balances with connected and

related parties are set out in notes 20 and 21.

Compensation of key management

personnel

The remunerations of the directors and other members of

key management during the year were as follows:

(9

(d)

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share based payments

SRR
RRER
P v S AN R IR

BIGERAR AR 2008/09 F3

37. BEREBALIRE (&)

EERHEBALRS (&)
B -
(i) ZERNREZBBEABEARRE
EREREAE -
iy HEMBRAATEARARZRKE
A @) Well Boom 2 # 15 # 7 %
BisE 34 -
HEALXRS
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

16,004 —

BERMEEA LA

BENABEA LT RERFES
25 RHI 20 %21 °

TEEEEREHMH

E=NHEBTIEEEEKER

ERZHEMT :
2009 2008
St =)\
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi# THT
11,091 10,490
60 72
1,147 2,974
12,298 13,536
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38. BALANCE SHEET OF THE COMPANY

146

The summarised balance sheet of the Company as at 31 March

2009 and 31 March 2008 are as follows:

38. ApEEEEERX

HE=_ZZNF=A

—f+—BKk=

TTZNEF=-_A=+t—-BHEERBER

BEWT

2009
—BBhE
HK$'000
Fi#

637,977
13,946
136
8,299,448
224

8,951,731

202,718
350
18,303
3,616,800

3,838,171

5,113,560

113,738
4,999,822

Investments in subsidiaries RHTBRAIRNEE
Other receivables H th i e 3k I8
Amounts due from an associate JE U B N B SRR
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U BT B~ B 5 0E
Bank balances RITEE R

Total assets BEE

Derivative financial instruments PTHEMKIA
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAT BT B R R FRIE
Other payables H Ath & A 58
Unsecured bank borrowings IR ITIEE
Total liabilities e E

Share capital [N

Reserves 1

Total equity B

5,113,560
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2008

—EENF

HK$'000
TExT
637,977
16,935

8,184,065
2,665

8,841,642

207,749

17,344
3,746,800

3,971,893

4,869,749

113,738
4,756,011

4,869,749
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FEHE R A
ARAREEWNBRARR_ZZNGF
—A=+—-BRZ-ZZEENF=A=
+—BHFBOT

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, as at 31 March
2009 and 31 March 2008 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued

establishment/registration and fully paid share

and operations capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary WAL/ B/ ER CRIRBERE/ Proportion ownership interest held by the Company  Principal activities
KELRAER REELY HERBRAEE RARBERGRGRLH TEER
Directly Indirectly
BEE B
2008
ZZTNF
Able Advance International British Virgin Islands (note i) ~ Ordinary shares — US$4 — Investment holding
Limited RERZHES () TR — 4% REZR
Lee & Man Industries British Virgin Islands (note i) ~ Ordinary share — US$1 100% Investment holding
Company Limited RBEXHES (W) BRIk —1%T REZER
Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share — HK$2 100% Investment holding
FEABDR Bk LiERk — 2% REER
Evergreen Trading Company ~ Malaysia Ordinary shares — US$2 100%  Procurement of
Limited ERAD TRk —2%En raw materials
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial  Macau MOP100,000 100% Procurement of
Offshore) Trading Limited ~ }2P9 PF9%100,0007T raw materials
FIE CRFREREERE) RERE
B5ERAE
Wang Kei (Macao Commercial  Macau MOP100,000 100%  Export trading of
Offshore) Trading Limited %3 P9 100,0007T paper
RE (RFEFEERS) HKRLENES
EL YN
REEERHAR AR PRC (note ii) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper 18 ([ft3Fii) US$ 156,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co., Ltd.) AR — 156,480,000% T ENEERES
BERECERBRAR PRC (noteiii) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper 18 ([ft3Fii) US$480,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) SEE A — 480,000,000 7T EREERES
LERESGERBRAA PRC (note i) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper R (i) US$250,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company AR — 250,000,000 7T EREERES
Limited)

BEEERERAR PRC (note ii) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man HE (T US$123,180,000 trading of paper
Paper Manufacturing FHEA — 123,180,000 E7T EHAERES

Limited)
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam US$10,113,794 — Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited HE 10,113,794 %70 trading of paper
BEHAERES
Vietnam Lee & Man Pulp Vietnam US$4,250,000 — Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited i 4,250,000 7T of pulp
AFEERES
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39.

148

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conTinueD) 39.

notes:
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong.

(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at

the end of the year, or at any time during the year.
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